Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) Connected and Automated Vehicles (CAV) Analysis, Modeling, and Simulation (AMS) Program

Connected, Automated, and Electric: Modeling Traffic and Traveler Choice Considering the Three Mega-Trends

www.its.dot.gov/index.htm

Final Report - November 2024 FHWA-JPO-24-145



Produced by Noblis U.S. Department of Transportation Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Joint Program Office (JPO)

Notice

This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the Department of Transportation in the interest of information exchange. The United States Government assumes no liability for its contents or use thereof.

The U.S. Government is not endorsing any manufacturers, products, or services cited herein and any trade name that may appear in the work has been included only because it is essential to the contents of the work.

Technical Report Documentation Page

| FHWA-PPO-24-145 Sequent Sublitie 4. Title and Sublitie Sequent Sublitie Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) Connected and Automated Vehicles (CAV) Analysis, Modeling, and Simulation (AMS) Program Connected, Automated, and Electric: Modeling Traffic and Traveler Choice Considering the Three Mega-Trends Sequent Sublitie 7. Author(s) Rick Grahn, Pelwei Wang, Sampson Asare, Karl Wunderlich Serforming Organization Report No. 9. Performing Organization Name and Address 10. Work Unit No. (TRAIS) SOD L'Enfant Plaza, S.W., Suite 900 11. contract or Grant No. SOD L'Enfant Plaza, S.W., Suite 900 Singloog (Jacobian) Washington, D.C. 20024 Singloog (Jacobian) 12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Joint Program Office (JPO) 1200 New Jersey Avenue, S.E., Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Joint Program Office (JPO) 1200 New Jersey Avenue, S.E., Interact connectivity, automated vehicle (AV), and electric vehicle (EV) technologies are changing the way people use and interact with the transportation system. These behavioral shifts are impacting the accuracy of standard AMS tools due to more complex/decision-making processes, new mobility service models, and new interactions with traditional transportation infrastructure. This analysis aims to identify current and potential future behavior and gerse submiting from traveler connectivity, Ave, and EVs in isolation and when operating to thenitoprating from traveler connectivity, Ave, and EVs i | 1. Report No. | 2. Government Accession | 1 No. 3. Re | cipient's Catalog No. | | |
|---|---|----------------------------|----------------------|----------------------------|---------------|--|
| 4. Trite and Subtitle 5. Report Date Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) Connected and Automated Vehicles (CAV) Analysis, Modeling, and Simulation (AMS) Program 5. Report Date Connected, Automated, and Electric: Modeling Traffic and Traveler Choice 6. Performing Organization Code Considering the Three Mega-Trends 8. Performing Organization Report No. Rick Grahn, Pelwei Wang, Sampson Asare, Karl Wunderlich 8. Performing Organization Report No. 9. Performing Organization Name and Address 10. Work Unit No. (TRAIS) SOD LEnfant Plaza, S.W., Suite 900 11. Contract or Grant No. GS00Q14OADU143/693JJ321F0003 81 12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address 11. Contract or Grant No. Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Joint Program Office (JPO) 13. Type of Report and Period Covered 11. Beginseming Agency Name and Address 14. Sponsoring Agency Code Hortf.1 15. Supplementary Notes 14. Sponsoring Agency Code Work Performed for: John Hourdos, HRSO, FHWA 14. Astaret 15. Abarset 14. Sponsoring Neuron of Itraveler connectivity, Automated vehicle (AV), and electric vehicle (EV) technologies are changing the way people use and interact with the transportation system. These behavioral shifts are impacting the accuracy of standard AMS tools due to more complex decision-making processes, new mobility service models | FHWA-JPO-24-145 | | | | | |
| Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) Connected and Automated Vehicles (CAV) Analysis, Modeling, and Simulation (AMS) Program November 2024 Connected, Automated, and Electric: Modeling Traffic and Traveler Choice Considering the Three Mega-Trends Performing Organization Code Statistication Name and Address Performing Organization Name and Address Performing Organization Name and Address Noblis, Inc. Source or Grant No. (TRAIS) GS00 (Enfant Plaza, S.W., Suite 900 Washington, D.C. 20024 Spenoring Agency Mame and Address Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Joint Program Office (JPO) Supplementary Notes Work Performed for: John Hourdos, HRSO, FHWA Supplementary Notes Work Performed for: John Hourdos, HRSO, FHWA Supplementary Notes Work Performed for: John Hourdos, HRSO, FHWA Supplementary Notes Work Performed for: John Hourdos, HRSO, FHWA Abetract The rapid development and deployment of traveler connectivity, automated vehicle (AV), and electric vehicle (EV) technologies are changing the way people use and interact with the transportation system. These behavioral shifts are impacing the accuracy of standard AMS tools due to more complex decision-making processes, new mobility service models, and new interactions with traditional traveler connectivity, Avs, and EVs in isolation and when operating tegether in both cooperative and conflicting settings. Such findings will then be used to identify high-impact f | 4. Title and Subtitle | | 5. Re | port Date | | |
| | Federal Highway Administration (Vehicles (CAV) Analysis, Modelir | (FHWA) Connected a | nd Automated Nov | vember 2024 | | |
| Considering the Three Mega-Trends 8. Performing Organization Report No. 7. Author(s) 8. Performing Organization Report No. Rick Grahn, Peiwei Wang, Sampson Asare, Karl Wunderlich 9. Performing Organization Report No. 9. Performing Organization Name and Address 10. Work Unit No. (TRAIS) Noblis, Inc. 11. Contract or Grant No. 500 L'Enfant Plaza, S.W., Suite 900 11. Contract or Grant No. Washington, D.C. 20024 13. Type of Report and Period Covered 12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address 13. Type of Report and Period Covered Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Joint Program Office (JPO) 14. Sponsoring Agency Code 1200 New Jersey Avenue, S.E., 14. Sponsoring Agency Code Washington, DC 20590 HOIT-1 15. Supplementary Notes Vork Performed for: John Hourdos, HRSO, FHWA 16. Abstract The rapid development and deployment of traveler connectivity, automated vehicle (AV), and electric vehicle (EV) technologies are changing the way people use and interact with the transportation system: These behavioral shifts are impacting the accuracy of standard AMS tools due to more complex decision-making processes, new mobility service models, and new interactions with traditional transportation infrastructure. This analysis aims to identify nume and when operating together in bot cooperative and conflicting settings. Such findings will then be used to identify injin-impact future research directions related to | Connected, Automated, and Elec | tric: Modeling Traffic | and Traveler Choice | rforming Organization (| Code | |
| 7. Authot(s) 8. Performing Organization Report No. Rick Grahn, Peiwei Wang, Sampson Asare, Karl Wunderlich 9. Performing Organization Report No. 9. Performing Organization Name and Address 10. Work Unit No. (TRAIS) Noblis, Inc. 10. Work Unit No. (TRAIS) 500 L'Enfant Plaza, S.W., Suite 900 11. Contract or Grant No. Washington, D.C. 20024 GS00Q14OADU143/693JJ321F0003 81 11. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address 13. Type of Report and Period Covered Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Joint Program Office (JPO) 14. Sponsoring Agency Code 1200 New Jersey Avenue, S.E., 14. Sponsoring Agency Code Washington, DC 20590 HOIT-1 15. Supplementary Notes Work Performed for: John Hourdos, HRSO, FHWA 16. Abstract The rapid development and deployment of traveler connectivity, automated vehicle (AV), and electric vehicle (EV) technologies are changing the way people use and interact with the transportation system. These behavioral shifts are impacting from traveler connectivity, AVs, and EVs in isolation and when operating together in both cooperative and conflicting settings. Such findings will then be used to identify high-impact future research directions with traditional transportation infrastructure. This analysis aims to identify high-impact future research directions related to the integration of changing travel behaviors into AMS tools and frameworks to model transportation systems in the mega-trend era. 17. Ke | Considering the Three Mega-Tre | nds | | | | |
| Rick Grahn, Peiwei Wang, Sampson Asare, Karl Wunderlich Performing Organization Name and Address Noblis, Inc. 500 L'Enfant Plaza, S.W., Suite 900 Washington, D.C. 20024 11. Centract or Grant Ne. GS00Q14OADU143/693JJ321F0003 81 12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Joint Program Office (JPO) 12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Joint Program Office (JPO) 1200 New Jersey Avenue, S.E., Washington, DC 20590 14. Sponsoring Agency Code HOIT-1 15. Supplementary Notes Work Performed for: John Hourdos, HRSO, FHWA | 7. Author(s) | | 8. Pe | rforming Organization F | Report No. | |
| 9. Performing Organization Name and Address 10. Work Unit No. (TRAIS) Noblis, Inc. 11. Centract or Grant No. 500 L'Enfant Plaza, S.W., Suite 900 11. Centract or Grant No. Washington, D.C. 20024 GS000(14OADU143/693JJ321F0003 81 12. Spensoring Agency Name and Address 13. Type of Report and Period Covered Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Joint Program Office (JPO) 14. Sponsoring Agency Code 1200 New Jersey Avenue, S.E., 14. Sponsoring Agency Code Washington, DC 20590 HOIT-1 15. Supplementary Notes HOIT-1 16. Abstract The rapid development and deployment of traveler connectivity, automated vehicle (AV), and electric vehicle (EV) technologies are changing the way people use and interact with the transportation system. These behavioral shifts are impacting the accuracy of standard AMS tools due to more complex decision-making processes, new mobility service models, and new interactions with traditional transportation infrastructure. This analysis aims tolentify current and potential future behavior changes resulting from traveler connectivity, AVs, and EVs in isolation and when operating together in both cooperative and conflicting settings. Such findings will then be used to identify high-impact future research directions related to the integration of changing travel behaviors into AMS tools and frameworks to model transportation systems in the mega-trend era. 17. Keywords 18. Distribution Statement Automated Vehicles, Connected Vehicles, Electric V | Rick Grahn, Peiwei Wang, Samp | son Asare, Karl Wund | derlich | | | |
| Nobils, Inc. Image: Second Statement St | 9. Performing Organization Name and Add | ress | 10. | Work Unit No. (TRAIS) | | |
| 500 L'Enfant Plaza, S.W., Suite 900 11. Contract or Grant No. Washington, D.C. 20024 GS00Q14OADU143/693JJ321F0003 81 12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address 13. Type of Report and Period Covered Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Joint Program Office (JPO) 14. Sponsoring Agency Code 1200 New Jersey Avenue, S.E., 14. Sponsoring Agency Code Washington, DC 20590 HOIT-1 15. Supplementary Notes Work Performed for: John Hourdos, HRSO, FHWA 16. Abstract The rapid development and deployment of traveler connectivity, automated vehicle (AV), and electric vehicle (EV) technologies are changing the way people use and interact with the transportation system. These behavioral shifts are impacting the accuracy of standard AMS tools due to more complex decision-making processes, new mobility service models, and new interactions with traditional transportation infrastructure. This analysis aims to identify current and potential future behavior changes resulting from traveler connectivity, AVs, and EVs in isolation and when operating together in both cooperative and conflicting settings. Such findings will then be used to identify high-impact future research directions related to the integration of changing travel behaviors into AMS tools and frameworks to model transportation systems in the mega-trend era. 17. Keywords 18. Distribution Statement Automated Vehicles, Connected Vehicles, Electric Vehicles, Travel Behavior, Modeling, Traveler Connectivity 14. Distribution Statement 19. Security Classified | Noblis, Inc. | | | | | |
| Washington, D.C. 20024 GS00Q14OADU143/693JJ321F0003 81 12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address 13. Type of Report and Period Covered Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Joint Program Office (JPO) 14. Sponsoring Agency Code Washington, DC 20590 14. Sponsoring Agency Code Washington, DC 20590 HOIT-1 15. Supplementary Notes HOIT-1 16. Abstract The rapid development and deployment of traveler connectivity, automated vehicle (AV), and electric vehicle (EV) technologies are changing the way people use and interact with the transportation system. These behavioral shifts are impacting the accuracy of standard AMS tools due to more complex decision-making processes, new mobility service models, and new interactions with traditional transportation infrastructure. This analysis aims to identify current and potential future behavior changes resulting from traveler connectivity, XVs, and EVs in isolation and when operating together in both cooperative and conflicting settings. Such findings will then be used to identify high-impact future research directions related to the integration of changing travel behaviors into AMS tools and frameworks to model transportation systems in the mega-trend era. 17. Keywords 18. Distribution Statement Automated Vehicles, Connected Vehicles, Electric Vehicles, Travel Behavior, Modeling, Traveler 18. Distribution Statement 19. Security Classif. (of this page) 21. No. of Pages 22. Price Unclassified Unclassified 48 14. | 500 L'Enfant Plaza, S.W., Suite 9 | 00 | 11. | Contract or Grant No. | | |
| 12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address 13. Type of Report and Period Covered Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Joint Program Office (JPO) 14. Sponsoring Agency Code 1200 New Jersey Avenue, S.E., 14. Sponsoring Agency Code Washington, DC 20590 HOIT-1 15. Supplementary Notes Work Performed for: John Hourdos, HRSO, FHWA 16. Abstract The rapid development and deployment of traveler connectivity, automated vehicle (AV), and electric vehicle (EV) technologies are changing the way people use and interact with the transportation system. These behavioral shifts are impacting the accuracy of standard AMS tools due to more complex decision-making processes, new mobility service models, and new interactions with traditional transportation infrastructure. This analysis aims to identify current and potential future behavior changes resulting from traveler connectivity, AVs, and EVs in isolation and when operating together in both cooperative and conflicting settings. Such findings will then be used to identify high-impact future research directions related to the integration of changing travel behaviors into AMS tools and frameworks to model transportation systems in the mega-trend era. 17. Keywords 18. Distribution Statement Automated Vehicles, Connected Vehicles, Electric Vehicles, Travel Behavior, Modeling, Traveler Connectivity 20. Security Classif. (of this page) 21. No. of Pages 22. Price Unclassified Unclassified 48 11. | Washington, D.C. 20024 | | GS 81 | 00Q14OADU143/ | 693JJ321F0003 | |
| Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Joint Program Office (JPO) 14. Sponsoring Agency Code 1200 New Jersey Avenue, S.E., 14. Sponsoring Agency Code Washington, DC 20590 HOIT-1 15. Supplementary Notes HOIT-1 16. Abstract The rapid development and deployment of traveler connectivity, automated vehicle (AV), and electric vehicle (EV) technologies are changing the way people use and interact with the transportation system. These behavioral shifts are impacting the accuracy of standard AMS tools due to more complex decision-making processes, new mobility service models, and new interactions with traditional transportation infrastructure. This analysis aims to identify current and potential future behavior changes resulting from traveler connectivity, AVs, and EVs in isolation and when operating to conflicting settings. Such findings will then be used to identify high-impact future research directions related to the integration of changing travel behaviors into AMS tools and frameworks to model transportation systems in the mega-trend era. 17. Keywords 18. Distribution Statement 4.utomated Vehicles, Connected Vehicles, Electric Vehicles, Travel Behavior, Modeling, Traveler Connectivity 18. Distribution Statement 19. Security Classif. (of this report) 20. Security Classif. (of this page) 21. No. of Pages 22. Price Unclassified Unclassified 48 19. No. of Pages 19. No. of Pages 10. No. of Pages 10. No. of Pages 10. No. of Pages 10. No. of Pages | 12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address | | 13. 1 | ype of Report and Perio | d Covered | |
| 1200 New Jersey Avenue, S.E., 14. Sponsoring Agency Code Washington, DC 20590 HOIT-1 15. Supplementary Notes HOIT-1 Work Performed for: John Hourdos, HRSO, FHWA If Abstract 16. Abstract The rapid development and deployment of traveler connectivity, automated vehicle (AV), and electric vehicle (EV) technologies are changing the way people use and interact with the transportation system. These behavioral shifts are impacting the accuracy of standard AMS tools due to more complex decision-making processes, new mobility service models, and new interactions with traditional transportation infrastructure. This analysis aims to identify current and potential future behavior changes resulting from traveler connectivity, AVs, and EVs in isolation and when operating to conflicting settings. Such findings will then be used to identify high-impact future research directions related to the integration of changing travel behaviors into AMS tools and frameworks to model transportation systems in the mega-trend era. 17. Keywords 18. Distribution Statement Automated Vehicles, Connected Vehicles, Electric Vehicles, Travel Behavior, Modeling, Traveler Connectivity 14. No. of Pages 21. No. of Pages 22. Price Unclassified Unclassified 48 21. No. of Pages 22. Price | Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Joint Program Office (JPO) | | | | | |
| Washington, DC 20590 HOIT-1 15. Supplementary Notes Work Performed for: John Hourdos, HRSO, FHWA 16. Abstract The rapid development and deployment of traveler connectivity, automated vehicle (AV), and electric vehicle (EV) technologies are changing the way people use and interact with the transportation system. These behavioral shifts are impacting the accuracy of standard AMS tools due to more complex decision-making processes, new mobility service models, and new interactions with traditional transportation infrastructure. This analysis aims to identify current and potential future behavior changes resulting from traveler connectivity, AVs, and EVs in isolation and when operating together in both cooperative and conflicting settings. Such findings will then be used to identify high-impact future research directions related to the integration of changing travel behaviors into AMS tools and frameworks to model transportation systems in the mega-trend era. 17. Keywords 18. Distribution Statement Automated Vehicles, Connected Vehicles, Electric Vehicles, Travel Behavior, Modeling, Traveler Connectivity Classif. (of this report) 20. Security Classif. (of this page) 21. No. of Pages 22. Price Unclassified Unclassified 48 | 1200 New Jersey Avenue, S.E., | | 14. | 14. Sponsoring Agency Code | | |
| 15. Supplementary Notes Work Performed for: John Hourdos, HRSO, FHWA 16. Abstract The rapid development and deployment of traveler connectivity, automated vehicle (AV), and electric vehicle (EV) technologies are changing the way people use and interact with the transportation system. These behavioral shifts are impacting the accuracy of standard AMS tools due to more complex decision-making processes, new mobility service models, and new interactions with traditional transportation infrastructure. This analysis aims to identify current and potential future behavior changes resulting from traveler connectivity, AVs, and EVs in isolation and when operating together in both cooperative and conflicting settings. Such findings will then be used to identify high-impact future research directions related to the integration of changing travel behaviors into AMS tools and frameworks to model transportation systems in the mega-trend era. 17. Keywords 18. Distribution Statement 4. Automated Vehicles, Connected Vehicles, Electric Vehicles, Travel Behavior, Modeling, Traveler Connectivity 18. Distribution Statement 19. Security Classif. (of this report) 20. Security Classif. (of this page) 21. No. of Pages 22. Price Unclassified Unclassified 48 11. | Washington, DC 20590 | | НО | HOIT-1 | | |
| Work Performed for: John Hourdos, HRSO, FHWA 16. Abstract The rapid development and deployment of traveler connectivity, automated vehicle (AV), and electric vehicle (EV) technologies are changing the way people use and interact with the transportation system. These behavioral shifts are impacting the accuracy of standard AMS tools due to more complex decision-making processes, new mobility service models, and new interactions with traditional transportation infrastructure. This analysis aims to identify current and potential future behavior changes resulting from traveler connectivity, AVs, and EVs in isolation and when operating together in both cooperative and conflicting settings. Such findings will then be used to identify high-impact future research directions related to the integration of changing travel behaviors into AMS tools and frameworks to model transportation systems in the mega-trend era. 17. Keywords 18. Distribution Statement 4. Automated Vehicles, Connected Vehicles, Electric Vehicles, Travel Behavior, Modeling, Travel 18. Distribution Statement 19. Security Classif. (of this report) 20. Security Classif. (of this page) 21. No. of Pages 22. Price Unclassified Unclassified 48 11. 12. | 15. Supplementary Notes | | | | | |
| 16. Abstract The rapid development and deployment of traveler connectivity, automated vehicle (AV), and electric vehicle (EV) technologies are changing the way people use and interact with the transportation system. These behavioral shifts are impacting the accuracy of standard AMS tools due to more complex decision-making processes, new mobility service models, and new interactions with traditional transportation infrastructure. This analysis aims to identify current and potential future behavior changes resulting from traveler connectivity, AVs, and EVs in isolation and when operating together in both cooperative and conflicting settings. Such findings will then be used to identify high-impact future research directions related to the integration of changing travel behaviors into AMS tools and frameworks to model transportation systems in the mega-trend era. 17. Keywords 18. Distribution Statement 41. Keywords 18. Distribution Statement 19. Security Classif. (of this report) 20. Security Classif. (of this page) 21. No. of Pages 22. Price Unclassified Unclassified 48 14. | Work Performed for: John Hourdos, HRSO, FHWA | | | | | |
| The rapid development and deployment of traveler connectivity, automated vehicle (AV), and electric vehicle (EV) technologies are changing the way people use and interact with the transportation system. These behavioral shifts are impacting the accuracy of standard AMS tools due to more complex decision-making processes, new mobility service models, and new interactions with traditional transportation infrastructure. This analysis aims to identify current and potential future behavior changes resulting from traveler connectivity, AVs, and EVs in isolation and when operating together in both cooperative and conflicting settings. Such findings will then be used to identify high-impact future research directions related to the integration of changing travel behaviors into AMS tools and frameworks to model transportation systems in the mega-trend era. 17. Keywords 18. Distribution Statement Automated Vehicles, Connected Vehicles, Electric Vehicles, Travel Behavior, Modeling, Traveler Connectivity 20. Security Classif. (of this page) 21. No. of Pages 22. Price Unclassified Unclassified 48 | 16. Abstract | | | | | |
| 17. Keywords 18. Distribution Statement Automated Vehicles, Connected Vehicles, Electric Vehicles, Travel Behavior, Modeling, Traveler Connectivity 18. Distribution Statement 19. Security Classif. (of this report) 20. Security Classif. (of this page) 21. No. of Pages 22. Price Unclassified Unclassified 48 14. | The rapid development and deployment of traveler connectivity, automated vehicle (AV), and electric vehicle (EV) technologies are changing the way people use and interact with the transportation system. These behavioral shifts are impacting the accuracy of standard AMS tools due to more complex decision-making processes, new mobility service models, and new interactions with traditional transportation infrastructure. This analysis aims to identify current and potential future behavior changes resulting from traveler connectivity, AVs, and EVs in isolation and when operating together in both cooperative and conflicting settings. Such findings will then be used to identify high-impact future research directions related to the integration of changing travel behaviors into AMS tools and frameworks to model transportation systems in the mega-trend era. | | | | | |
| Automated Vehicles, Connected Vehicles, Electric Vehicles, Travel Behavior, Modeling, Traveler Connectivity 19. Security Classif. (of this report) 20. Security Classif. (of this page) 21. No. of Pages Unclassified Unclassified | 17. Keywords | 18. Distribution Statement | | | | |
| 19. Security Classif. (of this report)20. Security Classif. (of this page)21. No. of Pages22. PriceUnclassifiedUnclassified48 | Automated Vehicles, Connected Vehicles, Travel Behavior, Modeli Connectivity | | | | | |
| Unclassified Unclassified 48 | 19. Security Classif. (of this report) | 20. Security Cla | ssif. (of this page) | 21. No. of Pages | 22. Price | |
| | Unclassified | classified Unclassified | | 48 | | |

Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72)

Reproduction of completed page authorized

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the U.S. Department of Transportation (U.S. DOT) Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Joint Program Office (JPO) for sponsoring this work. Specifically, the authors would like to thank John Hourdos (FHWA, TOCOR), Gene McHale (FHWA), Danielle Chou (FHWA), and Hyungjun Park (ITS JPO) for their reviews and valuable feedback.

Table of Contents

| Exe | ecutive Summary1 | | | | |
|-----|---|--|--|--|--|
| 1 | Introduction | | | | |
| 1.1 | Background6 | | | | |
| 1.2 | Emerging Technologies in Transportation7 | | | | |
| 1.3 | Travel Behavior Modeling11 | | | | |
| 1.4 | Purpose11 | | | | |
| 1.5 | Scope of Document | | | | |
| 1.6 | Report Organization | | | | |
| 2 | Literature Review13 | | | | |
| 2.1 | Travel Behavior Impacts13 | | | | |
| 2.2 | Modeling Methods19 | | | | |
| 2.3 | Key Findings23 | | | | |
| 3 | Potential Synergies and Conflicts | | | | |
| 3.1 | Automation & Connectivity26 | | | | |
| 3.2 | Automation & Electrification27 | | | | |
| 3.3 | Connectivity & Electrification28 | | | | |
| 3.4 | Travel Behavior Change Due To The Convergence Of Three Mega-Trends | | | | |
| 4 | Modeling EV/AV/CV with AMS tools: Gaps, Challenges, & Recommendations | | | | |
| 5 | Conclusions and Next Steps | | | | |
| 5.1 | Responses to key questions | | | | |
| 5.2 | Recommendations for Future Research41 | | | | |
| 6 | References | | | | |

List of Tables

No table of figures entries found.

List of Figures

| Figure 1. Important Milestones and Deployment Timeline for AVs, EVs, and Traveler | |
|--|-----|
| Connectivity Technologies | .10 |
| Figure 2. Summary of Findings Related to Travel Behavior Changes Resulting from AVs, EVs | , |
| and Traveler Connectivity Technologies | .30 |
| Figure 3. Summary of Gaps/Challenges Related to AMS Tools in the Era of Traveler | |
| Connectivity, AVs, and EVs | .37 |

Executive Summary

The purpose of this document is to identify potential travel behavior changes, conflicts, and synergies of three technology mega-trends: 1) automated vehicles (AV), 2) electric vehicles (EV), and 3) traveler connectivity. This analysis focuses on how the adoption of such technologies (one or multiple) might impact travel behavior choices, such as trip generation, route choice, and destination choice. Current methods to capture these changing behaviors in modeling and simulation are also reviewed. A thorough (though not exhaustive) literature review was conducted primarily focused on travel behavior impacts from any one of the three technologies (AV, EV, traveler connectivity) to help inform potential shifts in behavior in the mega-trend era. The overarching goal of this analysis is to identify research activities that can help fill gaps in modeling and simulation approaches to accurately capture shifting travel behaviors resulting from the convergence of three mega-trends.

Three key research questions were used to guide the literature review and to answer the overarching questions of how AVs, EVs, and traveler connectivity technologies will impact travel behaviors and how such behaviors can be integrated into existing modeling and simulation tools.

Question #1: What are the travel behavior impacts resulting from automation, connectivity, and vehicle electrification?

AV, EV, and traveler connectivity technologies impact travel choices in different ways. All three technologies provide numerous benefits to the individual traveler by reducing travel time uncertainty, providing new, convenient alternatives to private vehicle travel, reducing travel costs due to ability to multi-task, and reducing monetary operational costs by smoother driving behaviors and lower costs of electricity (compared to gas). More specifically, several travel behaviors were identified for each technology, and are as follows:

• Traveler Connectivity

- Digital Navigation Real-time travel information and recommendations has led to selfish travel behaviors and misuse of transportation infrastructure.
- Shared Service Models Smartphone connectivity has led to new and convenient mobility service offerings (e.g., ridehailing), which has led to significant growth of these services, which behave and interact with transportation infrastructure in new ways (fleetbased decision making, deadheading behaviors, pickup/drop-off curb interactions).
- Automated Vehicles
 - Induced Travel Lower values of travel time (VOTT) were observed for commute and long-distance trips for AV. This finding indicates that travelers are willing to increase their delays when multi-tasking options are available.

U.S. Department of Transportation

Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office

- Zero Occupancy Travel Additional travel without a passenger is expected for AV owners because travel costs can be reduced or eliminated by sending empty vehicles to cheaper parking or to pick up family/friends. These behaviors will create additional trips affecting traditional trip generation models. Additionally, travel cost functions will require modifications because monetary factors will become more important compared to travel time and delay costs when vehicles are operating in zero occupancy mode.
- Electric Vehicles
 - Complex Decision-making Processes EV owners must consider their state of charge (SOC) at the origin/destination, battery range, access to charging, charger reliability and wait times, and potential charging at the destination when making travel choices. These complex choices lead to a variety of different travel behaviors, from eco-routing to tradeoffs between detour length and charging speeds/reliability.
 - Risk Attitudes EV owners exhibit different risk attitudes, which can lead to different choices that are tied to the current constraints of EV technology (range, limited access to charging, large variations in range) and technology unfamiliarity.

Question 2: What are some potential synergies and conflicts between emerging technologies that could alter travel behavior?

The combination of mega-trend technologies was found to be complementary in many settings. However, it is also easy to identify situations where the coupling of two or more technologies led to individual benefits at the expense of system performance. The identified relationships were as follows:

Traveler connectivity + AVs:

- Network efficiency [complementary] Real-time data processing and automated decision making can help shift network behaviors closer to system optimal (especially in fleet settings) in the appropriate policy and regulatory framework.
- Network inefficiency [conflicting] Without policy/regulation, AVs will likely be programmed to maximize individual benefits at the expense of network performance. Enhanced automation capabilities with real-time network information can act upon real-time data from multiple sources to further improve individual decision making resulting in degraded network performance.
- **Transportation affordability** [complementary] Removing the driver in public mobility systems (e.g., transit, ridehailing) can drastically reduce operational costs, which can be passed on to users in the form of reduced fares and improved service performance.
- Reduced operational costs [conflicting] High upfront costs and low operational costs of AV technologies can lead to greater vehicle miles travelled for affluent populations, which will increase societal costs in a mixed-use environment.

<u>AVs + EVs</u>:

• Access to charging [complementary] – Automation expands access to charging and decouples the need to have charging available at specific destination locations. The ability to send AVs to charge reduces EV constraints, leading to greater use and adoption.

U.S. Department of Transportation

Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office

- Regional travel [conflicting] AVs provide new, convenient options for regional travel which can be cancelled out by limited range of EVs. This can lead to slower adoption of EVs and increased regional travel with internal combustion engine (ICE) vehicles.
- **Zero-occupancy travel** [conflicting] Zero-occupancy vehicles will seek to reduce monetary costs (e.g., fuel costs, parking fees) as opposed to minimizing travel time. This could result in electric AVs seeking out congestion and stop-and-go traffic to reduce energy consumption and avoid parking fees.

Traveler connectivity + EVs:

- Enhanced charging reliability [complementary] Real-time information related to routing, charger locations, and wait times will provide travelers with information to ease range anxiety and reduce overall EV travel costs. This will facilitate faster EV adoption and increased EV travel.
- Selfish routing/charging [conflicting] Access to more real-time information can also facilitate increased opportunities for individuals to make utility maximizing choices, which can cause greater network/charging congestion.

Question #3: What are the gaps/challenges related to representing travel behavioral shifts in current AMS tools?

Based on findings from the literature review, four key areas were identified in which current AMS tools have shortcomings when it comes to modeling scenarios in the mega-trend era. The four focus areas and specific details related to gaps/challenges are as follows:

- Shared service models There is a need to integrate changing behaviors resulting from AVs and EVs for fleet-based mobility services with AMS tools, such as how drivers will behave when using EVs (near-term) and how operations will differ when shared mobility services eliminate drivers and use AVs (longer-term). Fleet behaviors differ from individual travelers because different factors are considered when making choices about picking up passengers, traveling between passengers, and dropping off passengers.
- Zero-occupancy trips New types of trips and new interactions with infrastructure are enabled by AVs, such as autonomous charging, self-parking, and pickup/drop-offs. Zero-occupancy VMT is expected to be significant, which will require modeling these types of trips (including the charging phase for electric AVs) to better understand network impacts and design interventions. New tradeoffs will also need to be evaluated (access time vs. parking costs) to gain a deeper understanding about human decision-making when interacting with AVs.
- Network utilization Travel connectivity apps that provide real-time recommendations about routing, charging, and parking can result in significant network delays and misuse. Understanding these new interactions and incorporating them into AMS tools will be important to design strategic interventions. This will likely require a high-resolution representation of the network that includes information such a bridge clearance, steep grades, sharp turns, lane widths, among others and methods to estimate macro-level impacts using multi-resolution modeling frameworks.

• **EV charging/routing –** Travel choices become more complex in the mega-trend era due to numerous new constraints and capabilities. In addition to travel cost and travel time, common travel choices will require information related to SOC at origin/destination, vehicle range, charging supply including charger types, location, pricing information, and wait times. In addition, due to variation in battery range, different risk attitudes will also have to be modeled because route, charging, and cancelation decisions will vary between individuals. Finally, charging itself now represents a significant part of a trip, which can have widespread network implications in not captured in modeling and simulation frameworks.

Based on these findings, the following potential future research directions are presented to guide travel behavior and modeling/simulation research in the mega-trend era.

- Travel choices differ significantly between ICE and EV drivers due to range anxiety, range constraints, and limited (not well distributed) charging infrastructure. EV and ICE drivers traveling between similar origin-destination pairs may take completely different routes and park at different locations based on their vehicle state of charge (SOC), risk attitudes, and charging access at the destination. Therefore, travel behaviors (including risk attitudes) as a function of vehicle fuel type need to be studied further and integrated into current AMS tools.
- Constrained charger supply in both time and space can significantly alter travel behaviors in unforeseen ways, especially when self-charging becomes available using autonomous vehicles. The charging portion of the trip (location, time required, wait times, charger type) is a significant factor impacting travel choices, which is often not considered in EV modeling and simulation. Further research is needed that quantifies travel behaviors as functions of charger locations, queueing at charger, charging times, charger types, and whether vehicles are human driven or autonomous. Real-time charging recommendation systems will also impact travel choices as EVs gain market share, which is another area for future study.
- Real-time recommendations from travel apps, such as Google Maps or Waze, have drastically increased cut-through traffic and have caused problems when local context is not considered (e.g., bridge clearance for large trucks, school zones, steep grades). Such problems will likely increase in the megatrend era with recommendations for charging, ecorouting, autonomous parking, among others. Therefore, there is a need to study human responses to real-time recommendations (across a variety of contexts) and integrate these behaviors into AMS tools. There is also a need to better understand the underlying data that is being used to inform recommendations and the computational tradeoffs of including richer data streams for improved guidance.
- Numerous automobile manufacturers are developing and deploying SAE L2-L3 (hands-free) systems using pre-mapped roads and/or specific operational design domains (ODD). In such ODDs, drivers can monitor the vehicle hands-free (for SAE L2) or can engage in other tasks (for SAE L3), reducing individual travel costs. The rapid development of these systems and scarce publicly available data limits our understanding of human decision making when presented with tradeoffs between travel time and ease of driving. To address this gap, further research is needed to identify changing travel behaviors resulting from commercially available, hands-free features. For example, will travelers select longer routes and/or prioritize pre-mapped routes (usually freeways) if they offered more hands-free driving?
- In the longer-term, highly automated vehicles (SAE L4-L5) bring new capabilities, which can alter the relationship between travelers, vehicles, and infrastructure. For example, zero-

U.S. Department of Transportation

Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office

occupancy vehicles can be used to charge/park themselves and potentially run errands (assuming service models evolve with the technology). Such vehicles will utilize different cost functions compared to human drivers, with higher importance placed on monetary costs (e.g., parking costs, fuel costs) and reduced sensitivity to travel time/delay. The potential for zero-occupancy travel to contribute to significant VMT, congestion, and delays highlights the importance of considering these types of trips in modeling and simulation exercises. In the near-term, the majority of SAE L4-L5 vehicles will likely be part of a ridehailing fleet. And if such shared mobility services gain significant market penetration, it will be important to integrate fleet-optimal algorithms (considering both AVs and EVs) and perspectives into AMS tools, which is an area with limited research.

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

Emerging transportation technologies and services are changing the way people use and interact with the transportation system. Three technologies of special interest to both transportation decision makers and users are automation, connectivity, and electric vehicles, which are characterized in this document as "mega-trends" due to their potential to significantly disrupt travel behavior and transportation system use. Widespread adoption of mega-trends promises significant benefits to safety, efficiency, and sustainability; however, it is unclear how the mega-trend technologies will interact with each other, potentially cancelling out benefits without strategic interventions. Up to this point, numerous studies have forecasted travel behavior change due to automation, connectivity, and electrification technologies in isolation. This review considers these technologies together to glean realistic insights related to complementary and/or conflicting relationships between the various technologies that can affect system performance. The overall goal is not to answer all potential questions related to travel behavior change resulting from the coming together of three mega-trends, but to gather related literature and pose important questions to help guide future research efforts.

In this paper, we refer to *travel behavior* as the choices, decisions, and patterns that travelers exhibit when moving between locations throughout the transportation network. A strong understanding of these choices and behaviors are needed for analysis, modeling, and simulation (AMS) tasks to realistically evaluate network impacts and bound uncertainty across a variety of alternative scenarios prior to investing in large transportation infrastructure projects with long service lives. Out of this need to capture realistic travel behavior patterns, a travel behavior research community has emerged that focuses on broad activities that includes realtime decision making at the micro-level (e.g., individual travel choices, multimodal trip chaining) all the way to long-term planning choices (e.g., where to live/work depending on available transportation options). To provide specific AMS examples, agent/activity-based methods are at the micro-level because they model decisions at the individual/household/tour level, whereas traditional four-step models are at the *macro*-level because they capture aggregate behaviors at the level of a traffic analysis zone across larger regions. Micro-level AMS tools are used to evaluate outcomes at high resolution in time and space (e.g., tactical/operational decisions). Macro-level AMS tools evaluate regional outcomes across long time horizons (e.g., strategic decisions, long-term planning). Travel behaviors, such as route choice, destination choice, departure time, parking decisions, etc., which are required for traffic simulation tasks, fall somewhere in-between micro- and macro-level modeling. This analysis focuses on these behavior changes resulting from the convergence of three mega trends. More specifically, what are the impacts of automation, connectivity, and electrification on the standard sequence of travel choices that one typically goes through starting with the decision to make a trip and

ending with choices that happen at the trip destination, such as parking location. Other decisions include mode, destination, departure time, trip cancelation, and route choices.

The rapid development and deployment of automation technologies (e.g., Tesla Autopilot, Waymo, Cruise), connectivity through real-time travel applications/services (e.g., Google Maps, Waze, public transit apps, traveler information messages), and affordable electric vehicles (EV) enabled by steep declines in battery production costs (82% decline in battery price in the last 10 years [1]) are impacting travel behavior in diverse ways. These emerging trends coupled with a constantly evolving technology, policy, and infrastructure landscape are creating challenges for the AMS community to accurately capture shifting travel behaviors. This analysis aims to address these challenges by connecting technology characteristics to factors affecting traveler choices both in isolation and in realistic environments where new technologies and services coexist. Gaps in current AMS tools will be identified and potential strategies to integrate new methods to capture shifting travel behavior will also be discussed. Specific high-level questions this paper aims to address are as follows:

- What are the travel behavior impacts resulting from automation, connectivity, and vehicle electrification?
- What are some potential synergies and conflicts between emerging technologies that could alter travel behavior?
- What are the gaps/challenges related to representing travel behavioral shifts in current AMS tools?

1.2 Emerging Technologies in Transportation

1.2.1 Connectivity

In the context of this analysis, connectivity refers to digital communications between devices, systems, vehicles, and infrastructure. *Vehicle* connectivity refers to vehicles that can send and/or receiving data via wireless communications. These technologies enable communication between the vehicle and other vehicles (V2V), infrastructure (V2I), and everything else (V2X). *Traveler* connectivity technologies are tools, devices, or platforms that are used to improve an individual's (or group's) overall travel experience. Examples of such technologies are mobile applications and traveler information services that provide real-time information (e.g., Google Maps, Waze, public transit apps) or access to new services (e.g., Uber/Lyft, micro-mobility, bike share). *Vehicle* connectivity technologies aim to improve traveler experience through information provision. Based on these primary objectives, it is anticipated that larger-scale travel behavior change will be due to *traveler* connectivity enhancements, and for this reason, *traveler* connectivity technologies are the focus of this study.

Traveler connectivity is not a new concept. The earliest examples date back to the 1930's with the in-car radio designed to provide traffic reports to the driver [2]. Other communications technologies, such as OnStar and electronic toll collection, have incrementally enhanced traveler experiences throughout the years. However, the introduction of modern smartphones and Wi-Fi-enabled vehicles in 2007 and 2008, respectively, have changed the landscape in terms of traveler connectivity for several reasons. First, smartphones are equipped with GPS that enabled a massive new source of speed and travel time data. In addition, GPS is necessary for new mobility service models that rely on real-time locations of travelers and vehicles for assignment and routing. Second, the proliferation of smartphones and the ease of integrating new platforms/services has resulted in smartphones becoming the default platform for disseminating detailed and tailored navigational support (Google Maps) and travel information (multi-modal / public transit apps). The growing use of smartphones and innovations to data collection, processing, and optimization has led to numerous individual benefits in terms of travel time reductions, improved reliability, and access to new mobility services. However, at the same time, numerous societal costs have also been observed due to unforeseen behavioral shifts (e.g., mode shift from public transit to Uber/Lyft leading to increased congestion [3], misuse of existing transportation infrastructure [4]).

1.2.2 Automated Vehicles

Concepts and pioneering research into automated vehicle (AV) technologies began in the early 1900's and continued through the end of the century. However, the automated vehicle grand challenges initiated by the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency in 2004 and 2007, respectively, spearheaded commercial interest by showcasing what can be possible with vehicle automation technologies. The combination of new commercial interest (and investment) and advancements in key enabling technologies (e.g., sensors, software, computation) has pushed forward AV development in the last decade to a point where AVs are now commercially operating on U.S. roadways [5], [6].

Six levels of vehicle automation are defined by the Society of Automotive Engineers (Level 0 – Level 5) [7]. Level 0 – Level 2 refers to lower levels of automation, such as driver assistance and partial automation. High vehicle automation (Levels 3-5) refers to situations when the vehicle can be in full control of driving tasks in the appropriate operational setting. In terms of macro-level travel behavior, high automation is likely to cause the biggest shifts due to its ability to significantly change an individual's travel cost function. Therefore, highly automated vehicles are the focus of this analysis due to their potential to cause widespread behavioral change.

Finally, behavioral change from AVs is largely dependent on the service model. Currently, two primary models exist: privately owned vehicle model and shared use model. To date, the most advanced systems are being operated as shared, ridehailing services (Waymo, Cruise), which can facilitate safer, more affordable on-demand mobility service. The private ownership model (e.g., Tesla Autopilot) can also provide numerous individual benefits with potentially higher costs to society due to increased vehicle miles traveled (VMT) [8]. This analysis addresses both models to determine potential implications if either (or both) take hold.

U.S. Department of Transportation

Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office

1.2.3 Electric Vehicles

The race to decarbonize the transportation sector (which is currently the highest greenhouse gas (GHG) emitting economic sector accounting for 1/3 of total U.S. emissions [9]) has led to large investments in EV technology. These investments have paid off as battery costs have come down 82% in the last ten years (\$780/kWh in 2013 to \$139/kWh in 2023) [1]. These steep reductions in battery costs coupled with numerous federal, state, and local incentives have led to exponential growth in EV sales increasing from 0.7 million to 13.7 million between 2016-2023 [10]. The rapid adoption of new power train technologies can have significant impacts on travel behavior as new factors must be considered prior to making a trip (e.g., battery range, state of charge, access to charging). While these factors will likely evolve with improvements in battery range and charging infrastructure, the physical constraints posed by the electric grid (e.g., location, capacity) will continue to limit fueling flexibility for the foreseeable future.

For the purposes of this analysis, privately owned EVs are the focus. Other modes are also transitioning from internal combustion engines (ICE) to electric motors (public transit, micro-mobility); however, the fuel type alone is not likely to produce large shifts in travel behavior unless traveler costs can be drastically reduced. From a behavioral perspective, EVs serve as a clean-fuel replacement for ICE. Therefore, travel behavior change caused by EVs will be closely tied to their new benefits and constraints compared to their ICE counterparts. For example, battery range and availability of charging infrastructure are new constraints an EV owner must consider when making travel choices, which will alter their travel behavior compared to ICE vehicles.

Figure 1 presents key milestones for connectivity, automated vehicles, and electric vehicles over the last 15 years. Notice the rapid technology development and deployments during recent years, and how the different technologies are all expected to reach widespread deployment in the near-term. Therefore, there is an urgent need to improve AMS capabilities to capture these emerging trends.



Source: ITS JPO

Figure 1. Important Milestones and Deployment Timeline for AVs, EVs, and Traveler Connectivity Technologies

1.3 Travel Behavior Modeling

Travel behavior modeling is an approach used to estimate and forecast travel choices and their resulting network impacts using mathematical and statistical models. These models can then be used to evaluate various planning and operational designs quickly and cost-effectively to help inform policy, planning, and infrastructure investments. The field of travel behavior modeling is broad and consists of a series of modeling approaches developed to answer specific questions from intersection signal timing to long-range regional planning. The specific behavioral impacts of interest for this study are related to the sequence of choices an individual (or group) must make to initiate/complete a trip: 1) whether to make a trip or not, 2) destination choice, 3) mode choice, 4) route choice, 5) departure time, 6) trip cancellation/abandonment, and 7) parking decisions. This sequence of choices can then be integrated with the appropriate AMS tools (e.g., mesoscopic, macroscopic) to study macro-level behavior change and resulting network impacts.

The challenge with analyzing travel behavior change from emerging technologies is the lack of real-world deployments/data. However, data collected from surveys can help forecast behavioral shifts based on how the new technology or service impacts factors that influence travel choices. Many factors impact travel decisions that include socioeconomics, demographics, residential/work locations, etc., however, the focus of this analysis will be based on factors that affect the generalized travel cost function: 1) travel time and 2) monetary cost for travel (parking, fuel, tolls, fares, etc.). Reliability, convenience, vehicle ownership, and other factors that impact travel choices will also be discussed in terms of high-level impacts resulting from the three mega-trends.

To summarize, the convergence of three technology mega-trends (automation, connectivity, and electrification) are expected to disrupt the transportation sector in the coming years. At this point, is it unclear how these technologies will impact travel behavior, and if such travel behavior shifts are net positive or net negative. This analysis begins to address these questions at a high level by gathering relevant studies and comparing technologies to best understand how the different technologies will interact, and what roles they will play in modern transportation systems. Based on initial findings, new questions will also be posed to guide future research focused on travel behavior shifts resulting from mega-trend technologies. Finally, network level impacts and methods to integrate new shifting behaviors into existing AMS tools will also be discussed.

1.4 Purpose

The purpose of this document is to identify potential impacts from AVs, connectivity, and EVs as they relate to travel behavior to update, integrate, and operationalize AMS tools. The overarching goal is to improve accuracy and reduce uncertainty for AMS tools when modeling the coming together of three mega-trends.

U.S. Department of Transportation

Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office

1.5 Scope of Document

The primary focus is at the vehicle and/or traveler level. More specifically, how will AVs, *traveler* connectivity, and EVs impact *individual* decision making. Potential synergies and conflicts between the various technologies will also be discussed. Future research directions will be identified based on a review of relevant literature related to the integration of shifting travel behaviors with currently available AMS tools.

1.6 Report Organization

The remainder of this white paper is organized as follows:

- Chapter 2 presents a summary of the literature review of existing studies focused on travel behavioral change from automation, connectivity, and electric vehicles.
- Chapter 3 discusses potential relationships (complementary / competitive) between automation, connectivity, and electrification based on findings from Chapter 2.
- Chapter 4 summarizes modeling gaps/challenges and discusses various ways to integrate and operationalize behavioral shifts with current AMS tools.
- Chapter 5 summarizes the conclusions, including responses to important research questions posed, and identifies future research directions.

2 Literature Review

This chapter presents an overview of findings related to travel behavior shifts resulting from traveler connectivity technologies, AVs, and EVs. The various methods and approaches used to model and simulate emerging technologies will also be discussed. The chapter will conclude with key findings and gaps/challenges.

2.1 Travel Behavior Impacts

2.1.1 Traveler Connectivity

The smart phone has changed the way traveler's make choices. Since its introduction in 2007, numerous mobility applications have been developed to improve the traveler experience. Generally, the various applications can be divided into two groups: 1) traveler information and 2) mobility services. Traveler information apps equip travelers with data to inform decision making (e.g., Google Maps, Waze). More information leads to more rational decisions and improved individual benefits. Information apps can be real-time (e.g., traffic congestion along route) or offline (e.g., multimodal planning based on timetables). Service apps, on the other hand, are new modes and services enabled by smartphone connectivity. Ridehailing (e.g., Uber/Lyft) and other micro-mobility services (e.g., bikeshare, shared scooters) are two service models made possible by smartphone connectivity that have shifted travel behavior resulting in significant network disruption over the last decade [3], [11], [12]. The following section will focus primarily on these two groupings of traveler connectivity apps, and how access to information and new services have impacted travel behavior.

Travel decisions informed by real-time information are largely en-route decisions, such as route choice, trip abandonment, and parking decisions. Factors affecting these decisions are delays/congestion, incidents, weather, and parking supply/cost. Prior to this information being made available through connectivity, travelers would continue taking their "best" routes that were learned through experience, which might not always be user optimal. Therefore, real-time information can help increase individual benefits and enable more rational behavior. Evidence of improved decision making was found in several studies dating back to traffic reports in the early 1990's. One study found that commuters were more likely to change their route choices and departure times to minimize travel costs after listening to traffic reports if their route was congested [13]. A different study found that travelers' route choice behavior was more rational when real-time information was presented through dynamic message boards [14]. Improved rationality leads to more predictive behavior, which is consistent with how current AMS tools model route choice behavior. However, improved individual decision making doesn't always lead to positive outcomes and can create new modeling challenges based on new traveler-

infrastructure interactions. For example, one study found that while digital navigation increased the usable capacity of the road network by diverting traffic to lesser-used roads, many of the roads were not being used as intended. For example, local traffic was now using motorways designed for long-distance travel (adding to congestion) and long-distance travelers were now using local roadways not intended for high traffic volumes (increasing negative environmental impacts) [15]. This behavior was corroborated by other studies in London and California [15], [16]. These observations were occurring because travel information providers (Google Maps, Waze, etc.) work in isolation (not with local transportation officials) and provide "selfish" routing recommendations. Simple heuristics are also used to make recommendations in real time, which require roads to be broken down into a few simple classes with no local contextual information. Finally, acceptance of routing recommendations is extremely high among app users (~75% follow recommendations more than 80% of the time [17]). These simplifications of the road network and high compliance among app users creates numerous problems for city traffic officials as they can no longer manage traffic as intended, often leading to increased congestion and traffic accidents (e.g., school zones, difficult to cross intersections, difficult roads with steep grades and blind spots, truck rerouting along on roads without appropriate accommodations, e.g., bridge clearances, sharp turns, steep grades) [4]. These observed trends can also increase overall network delays when large numbers of travelers divert to smaller roads instantaneously (assuming recommendations are provided based on real-time data, i.e., no predictions), which can create unexpected queues due to the recommended route's inability to accommodate the sharp increase in demand [18]. From the user benefits perspective, several studies found that travelers place high value on reducing travel time uncertainty. [15] concluded that the biggest benefit from digital navigation was its ability to reduce travel time uncertainty, while [14] found that travelers with sufficient experience between specific OD pairs tend to shift from the lowest expected travel time routes with high variation to more reliable routes. Finally, from the parking perspective, several studies observed reduced circling for parking when information was available [19], [20]. [20] found that travelers behaved more rationally (in a costminimizing fashion) when parking information (cost, availability) was provided, and time flexibility was considered. To conclude, the types of travel behavior shifts that can be anticipated from real-time traffic information vary based on what is important to the user and how the information is presented. When all information is presented and travelers have time to make choices between alternatives, individuals tend to be more rational. Real-time traffic apps can also reduce travel uncertainty, which is an important factor for travelers making choices about whether to take the trip or not, departure time, and route choice. Finally, recommendation systems play an enormous role in en-route travel behavior, especially when the traveler is unfamiliar with the region.

Travel decisions informed by offline information are often pre-departure decisions, such as mode choice, departure time, and other trip planning decisions. Multimodal planning and transit apps are primary examples. The research in this area is limited, however, [21] used a survey of 3,000 multi-modal app users to find that 38% of users drove less, 1/3 of respondents increased their use of alternative modes, and half of the respondents reduced their wait times. Improved access to information will improve reliability and reduce travel costs for alternative modes, which

will likely cause mode shift in regions where robust alternative services exist and costs to own private vehicles is high.

Finally, the rise of service-based apps enabled by connectivity has grown rapidly since Uber and Lyft began offering rides in 2010 and 2012, respectively. Also included in this category are all bike share and micro-mobility systems that require a mobile app to lock/unlock devices, pay for services, and locate devices. The improved convenience of such technology-enabled services has led to rapid growth in the use of these services. In 2019, 36% of U.S. adults reported using ridehailing services, which was up from 15% in 2015 [22]. In 2022, 113 million trips were taken by e-scooter and bike share systems, up from 320k in 2010 [23]. These numbers indicate a mode shift and/or induced demand that should be considered for planning purposes, especially as younger, more tech savvy generations reach working age. However, more importantly are the sheer number of new fleet vehicles on U.S. roadways. In New York City alone, Uber operates a fleet of 80,000 vehicles compared to only 13,000 taxis [24]. From a traffic perspective, large fleets of on-demand vehicles (ridehailing, delivery, etc.) will impact network performance in unforeseen ways because fleet vehicles behave differently compared to individual drivers. First, fleets are centrally coordinated and profit maximizing during assignment. This behavior was found to increase system costs at low fleet penetration rates [25]. Next, a different set of behaviors is exhibited between trips (deadheading) in search for demand, which can be further influenced by policies, pricing, and/or regulation [26], [27], [28]. Finally, parking is no longer a consideration, which can reduce circling but can also create congestion at pickup/drop-off locations. [3] found that average pickup/drop-off times for ridehailing services in San Francisco to be 1 minute, significantly impacting local congestion.

2.1.2 Automated Vehicles

Numerous automation technologies exist within the transportation ecosystem; however, highly and fully automated vehicles (defined by SAE as L4-L5) are the focus of this study because they can facilitate widespread behavioral change. However, it is worth noting that numerous handsfree automation systems are being developed and deployed by different manufacturers that could impact travel behaviors. For example, General Motors (GM) recently extended their hands-free Super Cruise (SAE L2) network to 750,000 miles (in the U.S.) based on pre-mapped roads that have been approved for use by GM [29]. Other manufactures have taken similar approaches (e.g., Ford BlueCruise [30], Nissan Pro-PILOT 2.0 [31]) with SAE L2 capabilities using pre-mapped roads. Recently, Mercedez-Benz received approval for Drive Pilot (SAE L3) to operate in Nevada and California when speeds are below 40 mph [32]. A few studies have considered/analyzed different travel behaviors based on different levels of automation. For example, [33] assumed a 5% reduction in travel costs for SAE L2 systems and 50-80% reduction in travel costs for SAE L3-L4 systems. A different study used a driving simulator for both SAE L3 and SAE L4 features and stated preference surveys to find that drivers were willing to spend 30-50% longer traveling if they did not need to drive the whole trip themselves [34]. This finding would indicate that drivers of vehicles with SAE L2-L4 features would likely deviate from their normal route (up to a point) to access pre-mapped corridors or other operational design domains defined by the automation feature. Due to recent technology deployments and

U.S. Department of Transportation Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office

limited data on the subject, travel behavior change resulting from SAE L2-L4 systems is not well understood, indicating an important area for future research. For highly/fully automated systems (the primary focus of this paper), there tends to be two general pathways for AV adoption / deployment: 1) private ownership model and 2) shared services model. The pathway that dominates will also govern the resulting travel behavior changes. This literature review investigates both pathways to capture all potential scenarios that could unfold.

The most agreed upon finding in the literature is that the value of travel time (VOTT) decreases when traveling in an AV because travelers can now use their time to do other tasks (working, reading, etc.). This assumption is supported by several studies and is consistent for both private and shared models. However, the reduced VOTT was only observed for work travel/commutes and long-distance travel [35], [36]. Estimates of VOTT reductions were between 20-50% [37]. These findings indicate that if vehicles are designed to accommodate work tasks during commutes, then the reduction in VOTT could increase peak hour congestion because individual travel time costs decrease while departure time penalties remain unchanged. This results in travelers being less sensitive to delays when making travel decisions. Along these same lines, the ability to multi-task (or sleep) during longer distance travel is a clear advantage for AVs. This idea has led to several studies estimating rather large mode shifts between short-haul flights to AVs for trips between 100-500 miles [37], [38].

AVs can also decrease travel costs by reducing/eliminating parking costs. Traditionally, parking costs in downtown central business districts are high to help balance supply and demand. The parking choice for individual drivers come down to the monetary cost of parking versus walking time tradeoff. This tradeoff is different for AVs depending on the how long the traveler plans to spend at the destination. For short duration trips, travelers prefer wait times less than 10 minutes, which means that the access/egress costs can be relaxed because AVs are much faster than walking. For longer duration trips, the parking location decision is simply a cost minimization problem (operational + parking) because access time is no longer an issue [39]. Finally, trip termination for AVs is more like a ridehailing service, in that passengers can be picked up and dropped off anywhere. This represents a behavioral shift as to how curb space is used, which can result in harmful impacts if not considered in planning and operational designs.

The combination of reduced travel time costs (i.e., lower VOTT) and reduced monetary costs compared to human driven vehicles (e.g., reduction in parking costs, improved driving efficiency) will likely result in increased mode share for AVs at the expense of alternative modes. Several studies have found that public transit mode share will likely decrease with greater access to highly and/or fully automated vehicles (SAE L4-L5) due to reduced travel time disutility and lower operational costs provided by autonomous vehicles [40], [41], [42]. However, this shift will depend on access and efficiency of nearby public transit and travelers' willingness to use AVs [43], [44].

Perhaps the biggest uncertainty related to AV behavior is related to zero-occupancy trips. The ability for AVs to travel throughout the network without a driver fundamentally changes how people and vehicles interact with the transportation system. When a person is in the AV, travel

U.S. Department of Transportation

Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office choices will be similar to conventional vehicles (balancing travel costs, travel time, reliability, etc.) with marginal shifts due to reductions in VOTT. However, when an AV is traveling without a driver, these costs and objectives change. For example, the travel time component of cost becomes irrelevant, and autonomous vehicles will simply look to minimize operational/parking costs. The unfortunate fact about the operational cost minimization strategy is that traveling at slower speeds is the most cost effective solution, thus incentivizing congestion [45]. In the case of parking, AVs will select the parking locations where the summation of operational costs and parking fares are minimized. In many cases, this might result in AVs returning home for free parking and doubling vehicle miles traveled (VMT) [8], [46]. An alternative optimal solution for dense urban cores might be for AVs to simply cruise, as operational costs can often be cheaper than sending the vehicle home or paying for parking [45]. The key takeaway here is that VMT is expected to increase with AVs and a significant portion of induced VMT will likely be in the zerooccupancy state. One previous study using a chauffeur to simulate AV travel behavior found that VMT increased by 85% with 21% of the increase coming from zero occupancy trips [47]. These zero occupancy vehicles move about the network and make decisions based on a very different cost function compared to conventional vehicles, which can negatively impact network efficiency without the appropriate policies in place (e.g., congestion pricing).

Shifting to the shared autonomous vehicle (SAV) model, which can be thought of as a shared fleet of AVs that operates like a ridehailing or on-demand public transit service. According to several studies, SAVs can reduce car ownership, reduce waiting time and trip costs compared to traditional public transit, are more efficient (serve demand with smaller fleets), improve accessibility for non-driving populations, among many others [48]. One reason why there is so much interest around shared automated services is that eliminating driver costs (accounting for up to 70% of expenses in public transit systems) can drastically reduce operational costs and resulting affordability. One study estimated that shared, autonomous ridehailing could be 10-40% cheaper per mile compared to private conventional vehicles in the next decade. Compared to traditional ridehailing, fully autonomous fleets can reduce mobility costs by 70-80% [49]. If technology developments continue to progress and cost reductions are realized, significant growth in the use of these services is anticipated. From a modeling perspective, large, centrally operated vehicle fleets behave and interact differently with existing infrastructure and other network users. Fleet optimal algorithms will be used to advance operator objectives (likely profit maximizing objectives). Empty vehicle miles between drop-offs and subsequent pickups (also known as deadheading) will be unpredictable and based on private demand data collected by the operator. Finally, interactions with the curb will drastically change as on-street parking will be less in demand and pickup/drop-off zones will be needed to remove vehicles from traffic streams to prevent congestion.

A large shift towards greater use of SAVs was also found to reduce mode share for both private vehicles and public transit due to low operational costs and reduction in VOTT [40], [50]. However, it is difficult to determine if the net effects of mode shift towards SAVs are positive or negative from congestion and VMT perspectives without a more detailed analysis that considers local conditions, built environment, and travel behaviors.

AVs will also provide mobility services to new, non-driving populations (e.g., elderly, disabled, youth), which by some estimates, can increase vehicle miles traveled (VMT) by 14% for the adult population [51]. A deeper understanding related to travel behaviors associated with such populations is needed to accurately model and simulate behavior change resulting new traveler types.

Finally, it is worth mentioning that AVs exhibit programmed behavior, which can be very different than driver behavior. A conservative driving style that is fully compliant to all rules and regulations could impact network efficiency when coupled with other potential AV behaviors. For example, selecting low-speed local routes to minimize travel costs might present problems due to higher-than-normal pedestrian traffic (e.g., multiple crosswalks present through a school zone). The lack of social cues in such scenarios can drastically slow travel and create unnecessary congestion.

2.1.3 Electric Vehicles

The transportation sector accounts for 1/3 of total U.S. emissions, of which, light duty vehicles contribute to 49% [9]. To combat the growing impacts of climate change, the transportation sector will need to leverage a variety of technologies and strategies to promote more sustainable travel. The transition from ICE to EV vehicles is one of the most important components for most decarbonization strategies. At the same time, EVs have a different set of constraints compared to ICE vehicles that travelers must learn and consider when making travel choices. This section focuses on these choices, and how travel behavior might change as the light-duty fleet electrifies.

First, it is important to remember that EVs serve as a replacement for ICE vehicles. The main differences between the two are that EVs have more efficient power trains and are powered with electricity. This translates to lower energy costs (70% reduction in energy costs for EVs compared to ICE vehicles [52]) but more complex decision making due to new constraints around battery range, reliability, and access to charging infrastructure. The consistent finding from the literature is that most day-to-day travel choices will be directly impacted by battery and charging conditions. One study found that state of charge (SOC) at the origin is the most important factor for deciding to charge while estimated SOC at the destination was the most influential factor for route choice decisions. Additionally, when en-route charging was required, travelers tended to choose routes with charging close to the origin with minimal wait/charging times [53]. A different study found that in addition to SOC at origin and destination, the presence of charging at the destination, charger types, and charging wait times also impact route choice [54]. Findings also suggest that when SOC at the destination is low, travelers choose local streets with slower speeds to reduce energy consumption. If charging is required, travelers prefer arterials with access to fast charging [54]. Finally, from a departure time perspective, one study points out that EVs can increase peak-period congestion by not altering their departure time. Congestion related costs for EV drivers are expected to be lower due to improvements in energy efficiency at low speeds. In some cases, the added congestion costs are lower than penalties incurred by departing early or late [55]. Other research has also shown that reduced

U.S. Department of Transportation

Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office fuel costs are likely to lead to increased trips [56], [57], [58] when battery range is not an issue. However, trip cancelation / abandonment rates are also expected to increase when estimated SOC at the destination is low [59]. Range reliability is also an issue affecting trip taking behavior, as EVs range can vary significantly based on travel speed, road grade, driving behavior, and temperature [59]. The key takeaway from this section is that trip choice and destination are both highly dependent on SOC. Departure time to avoid congestion might also be impacted due lower energy costs while in congested conditions. For EVs in general, the generalized cost function for route choice becomes more complex because travelers must now consider battery SOC and charging access in addition to travel time and cost. Parking choices are also impacted when SOC is low at the destination.

The rapid adoption of EVs might also impact travel behaviors for ICE vehicle owners. According to a report by Boston Consulting Group, 25-80% of the fuel market could be unprofitable in the next 15 years due to EV adoption and the increased use of mobility-on-demand [60]. If gas stations plan to accommodate both EVs and ICEs, they will need to relocate to areas with more land to provide services for longer durations (lower turnover with EVs), which will impact area travel behaviors as gas stations relocate from urban to suburban locations. This transition will also have equity implications as smaller urban gas stations (without room to expand) will likely be the first to close, resulting in decreased access and longer travel times for urban ICE owners. The most likely gas stations to survive this transition are ones that diversify their offerings and accommodate EV charging, which in many cases, will be based in areas with favorable utility rate structures [61] and outside of affluent, urban neighborhoods where home charging is an option [62]. In scenarios where access to gas stations becomes increasingly difficult (affluent, urban neighborhoods), ICE owners will likely have to alter travel behaviors or have their fuel delivered [63].

EV drivers also exhibit different driving behaviors compared to the general population. One study surveyed 350 EV owners in the United States and found that EV drivers exhibited calmer driving behavior and were more likely to engage in more fuel-efficient driving habits, such as trip chaining and taking eco-routes [64]. At the same time, a rebound effect has also been observed, as EV owners perceived EV travel as significantly more environmentally friendly than public transit, leading to an increase in private vehicle trips [65]. In addition, eco-routing behaviors may also increase total system costs due to delays and increased congestion in a mixed traffic environment as EVs owners may seek out stop-and-go traffic to save energy thus causing more congestion for all network users, including ICE vehicles.

2.2 Modeling Methods

A rich literature exists related to the integration of AV, vehicle and traveler connectivity, and EV driving behavior into micro-simulation models. However, less attention has been paid to modeling macro-level behavioral shifts, which is the focus of the following section.

2.2.1 Traveler Connectivity

The three primary areas of interest identified from the literature review related to connectivity technologies were behavioral response to real-time travel info (e.g., digital navigation apps, such as Google Maps or Waze), behavioral shifts due to greater access to multimodal information (both real-time and offline), and the potential widespread adoption of fleet-based services enabled by connectivity technologies (Uber, eScooters, bikeshare, etc.). For fleet-based services, the shifts in "behavior" are due to new types of vehicles and services interacting with the network in new ways.

First, from a real-time information perspective, several studies have identified a shift towards more rational decision making when real-time information was provided [14], [66], [67]. Different studies have modeled this behavior by assuming travelers will select the route with the lowest expected travel time based on real-time network conditions. This choice is presented at each time step to model en-route behavior [18], [68]. [18] found that providing real-time information to a small portion of travelers resulting in improved network performance. No real-time information led to higher congestion on freeways and major arterials. Providing real-time information to a high percentage of travelers caused more intensive use of smaller roads with bottlenecks, which also increased total network delays. This is because large numbers of travelers may all decide to use the instantaneous optimal route, which may lead to unexpected queues on routes not designed to accommodate all of the diverted travelers. [68] observed similar results for parallel networks (providing real-time information to only 30% of travelers was optimal). However, network performance improved as a function of the proportion of travelers provided with realtime information for grid and ring networks. Other studies have found oscillatory behavior amongst rational travelers when provided real-time information on simplified networks [66], [69], [70]. This behavior was due to the time lag between providing shortest path route recommendations to drivers and the subsequent congestion caused by more drivers using the recommended route. The current route then becomes the shortest path due to fewer drivers, which will now become the recommended route resulting in an oscillating pattern of congestion. This pattern has been shown on theoretical, simplified networks, however, further research is needed to understand how real-time information impacts actual drivers on real-world networks.

Next, from a multimodal perspective, access to transportation planning apps and real time transit information leads to improved performance of alternative modes. For example, when using a multimodal/transit app, wait times were reduced, thus lowering the total cost of the trip [21], [71]. Research studies were not identified that specifically modeled travel behavior response from improved access to multimodal information. However, multimodal travel behavior has been extensively studied and can be integrated into traditional travel demand models using behavior choice studies. Based on previous research, correlation was found between smartphone use (and transportation app use) and greater probabilities to use alternative modes. One study found that millennials (who were also found to use smartphone apps at increased rates) were three times more likely to use Uber or Lyft and five times more likely to take a shuttle to work or school compared to Generation X respondents [72]. Modeling frameworks for multimodal travel have been developed for research applications, however, emerging modes

(ridehailing, scooters, bikeshare, etc.) are often not considered [73], [74]. The current method of choice for capturing mode shift to alternative modes (or multimodal travel) is to use agent-based models (ABM). ABMs are flexible modeling frameworks that simulate actions and interactions at the individual-level based on a set of predefined rules/behaviors. Using this framework, heterogeneous behaviors can be modeled in the multi-modal context that includes emerging modes. ABMs are extremely flexible and different modeling approaches exist, however, the general approach for transportation ABMs begins with tour assignment (based on area activity patterns) using empirical data and discrete choice models. A simulation step then follows that assigns traveler tours to specific routes. Finally, a replanning phase is initiated to allow individuals to make alternative plans based on utility maximization. These steps are repeated until population utilities stabilize [75]. This framework allows for easy integration of alternative modes based on how each mode impacts an individual's utility.

Lastly, and perhaps the most impactful, are travel behavior shifts due to emerging services and technologies enabled by connectivity. Modeling efforts that consider the different objectives (fleet optimal versus user optimal) have been conducted in research using mixed-traffic equilibrium, where both fleet vehicles and private vehicles must reach fleet optimal and user optimal conditions, respectively [25], [76]. However, deadheading and queueing created during pickup/drop-off were not considered. A different study used optimal control theory to characterize ridehailing dynamics including the deadheading portion of the trip [77]. However, other traffic was not considered. Finally, different modeling methods have been developed to analyze impacts from the pickup/drop-off portion of the trip. [78] used ABMs and constrained pickup/drop-off zones to parking areas (both on-street and off-street) where the probability of available parking supply was high based on parking data. [79] developed a bi-modal equilibrium model with a queueing component to capture network impacts of ridehailing pickup and drop-off.

2.2.2 Automated Vehicles

From the private ownership perspective, highly automated vehicles can significantly impact network efficiency by reducing VOTT for travelers and through zero occupancy travel. From a shared service model perspective, automation can enable affordable new mobility services (e.g., ridehailing, on-demand transit) that can impact network performance through new fleetbased objectives, added VMT from deadheading, and new interactions with the curb. Numerous studies have developed different ways to model these behavioral changes, however, no studies have modeled automation impacts in aggregate to gather realistic insights.

First, the general approach to modeling AV travel, for both private and shared models, is to reduce VOTT and operational cost parameters and simulate travel outcomes [40]. To evaluate resulting impacts, activity- and agent-based models were most often used due to their flexibility to consider new modes and behaviors. The general approach to represent AVs in macroscopic models was to modify demand (e.g., passenger car unit factors) and/or supply based on reduced headways between AVs [80], [81]. For travel demand models, new AV modes (private, ridesharing) can be easily integrated into the mode choice step by adding an AV option to the choice set with modified cost and travel time parameters [80]. Modifications to VOTT and travel

U.S. Department of Transportation Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office

costs were also used to represent long-distance AV travel compared to conventional driving, air, and rail travel [82], [83].

Next, one large difference between conventional driving and AV travel is related to what happens before and after the trip when vehicles are in a zero-occupancy state. Several studies have looked at this from a parking choice perspective. The most common approach is to select a parking location based on total cost minimization (operational, tolls, parking fares). [84] used an ABM to model parking choices based on minimizing parking and driving costs in Seattle and found that VMT increased between 5.6-13.5km per day with AVs. A different approach was also developed to consider both trip segments (origin \rightarrow destination + destination \rightarrow parking) to more accurately represent AV travel and quantify resulting impacts [85]. The parking location was assumed to be known a priori based on minimizing costs between the destination and final parking spot. The total travel cost can then be calculated based on both trip segments and represented in a network equilibrium model [85]. [45] used similar travel cost functions to determine parking locations (free on-street parking or returning home). In addition, SUMO modeling software [86] was used and cruising behaviors were modified to seek the most congested routes to minimize cruising costs. Based on demand data in San Francisco, the study found that cruising was the cheapest option for 37% of the trips for ICE vehicles and 39.9% of trips for EVs [45]. Modeling parking decisions-which is one motivation for zerooccupancy travel—is a well-researched topic area that comes down to minimizing monetary costs of travel and parking fares. However, other zero-occupancy behaviors are likely to arise (e.g., errands, delivery, picking up friends/family [47]), which can have significant impacts on network conditions. Modeling these situations and designing appropriate interventions will be integral in managing future traffic networks with highly/fully automated vehicles.

From a shared use perspective, the most common modeling approaches use ABMs and modify travel cost parameters to represent private and shared AVs in the network. One study used MATSim [75] and reduced cost parameters for private and shared AVs to capture mode choice decisions and subsequent operational impacts when traversing through the network [87]. Shared AVs must also include disutility factors for sharing rides with others and wait/detour times. Other modeling considerations (fleet-optimal decision making, deadheading, and curb interactions) are similar to those of ridehailing fleets discussed above. The primary difference between the two services (ridehailing with drivers versus ridehailing with AVs) is related to expected costs of travel and deadheading behaviors. Lower costs for AV-based services are expected, which will likely facilitate a more rapid modal shift. Cruising behaviors between passengers will also likely be different. AV services will likely reposition based on historical data and fleet optimal decisions. Driver-based ridehailing behavior will be based on driver experience.

2.2.3 Electric Vehicles

The key finding from the literature was that EV drivers must consider new constraints when making travel decisions due to technology limitations and lack of a convenient and reliable charging network. Important factors such are SOC at the origin and destination, locations of

U.S. Department of Transportation

Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office

different types of charging infrastructure, and routing decisions to conserve energy when the cost of en-route charging is high (detours, wait time, monetary cost, etc.) must all be considered in addition to travel time and cost.

From a modeling perspective, battery range constraints and charging decisions can alter the way EV drivers utilize the transportation network. To capture range anxiety, several studies have modeled EV travelers with different risk attitudes [53], [88]. For example, risk averse drivers will select slower routes with improved access to charging. These risk behaviors were considered in the shortest path calculation by placing higher weight on the risk term when calculating route costs [88]. Based on this assumption, EV drivers will take different routes between the same origin-destination pairs based on their risk tolerance. A similar study analyzed EV driver data and recommended to include SOC origin, SOC destination, and en-route charging access as well as risk attitudes in the route cost formulation [53]. User equilibrium models have also been developed to include EV charging behavior by adding charging costs to link cost functions based on where charging stations were located [89]. ABMs have also been used to model EVs due to their flexibility is creating rules and/or using heuristics to simulate travel behavior. For example, [90], [91] both use SOC thresholds to send vehicles to charge when operating in an on-demand, shared service setting. Finally, eco-routing behaviors have been observed for EV drivers [64]. Therefore, factors that impact energy consumption (stop-and-go conditions, slower speed roads, grade, etc.) should be considered when calculating shortest cost paths for EV drivers.

2.3 Key Findings

The key findings listed below are based on a review of existing literature related to travel behavior changes resulting from traveler connectivity, AVs, and EVs, and modeling approaches to quantify network impacts from such changes. The first and second sets of key takeaways focus on behavioral impacts and modeling approaches, respectively.

Behavioral impacts:

- A significant behavioral shift towards the use of new, fleet-based mobility service models (enabled by connectivity) has led to new interactions between travelers and infrastructure (fleet-optimal behaviors, user optimal deadheading behavior, and new interactions with the curb).
- Greater access to real-time information has led to more rational behavior, greater use of alternative modes, and new traveler-infrastructure use patterns.
- A research gap exists that studies traffic impacts of real-time recommendations (e.g., oscillations in congestion/recommendations between alternative routes) due to limited access to digital navigation data.
- Algorithms that make travel recommendations in real-time (Google Maps, Waze) can have significant impacts on individual decision making because travelers are continuously looking

to minimize travel time and uncertainty. This has led to misuse of transportation infrastructure.

- Highly and fully automated vehicles (L4-L5) reduce travel disutility for work and longdistance trips. This means that travel time costs felt by individuals are less when using an AV because that time can be used to pursue other activities. This is positive for individual travelers because they experience the direct benefits of automation. However, this also means that individual travelers are less impacted by congestion and delays, which could increase system level costs.
- Zero occupancy travel will make decisions based on monetary cost minimization with little sensitivity to travel time.
- Zero occupancy travel behavior is highly uncertain. Most studies have focused on parking; however, new uses and service models are expected with full automation.
- SAE L2-L3 systems are being developed/deployed by many manufacturers using premapped roads. A research gap exists that explores potential travel behavior change resulting from these new automation features that are constrained to specific locations and operational design domains.
- The expected reduction in costs for shared AV mobility systems (operating like a ridehailing platform) will likely result in significant mode shift from both public transit and private vehicles.
- Travel decision making becomes much more complex for EV drivers as they must consider SOC at origin, estimated SOC at destination, en-route charging access, and charging availability at the destination when making mode and route choices.
- Different EV drivers exhibit different risk behaviors when it comes to range anxiety, which can dramatically shift their travel choices.
- EV drivers tend to exhibit more eco-friendly driving behaviors, such as trip chaining and eco-routing.

Modeling approaches:

- New modeling approaches are being developed to capture changing travel behaviors resulting from emerging technologies. However, most methods are specific to one or a few use cases and development is mostly being conducted in the research setting.
- ABMs provide the flexibility needed to model heterogeneous travel behaviors, emerging modes, and complex/dynamic interactions. Interpretability and feature sensitivity remains an issue due to numerous complex interactions between travelers and infrastructure.
- Numerous models have been developed/proposed to simulate fleet-based services that include fleet optimal decision making, deadheading behavior, and pickup/drop-off behaviors. However, model simplifications are needed to isolate impacts and interpret findings.
- AV and EV travel behaviors can be incorporated into existing tools by modifying demand, supply, and travel cost functions used to model travel choices. For example, travel costs and VOTT can be reduced for AV travel, or SOC and charging availability can be integrated into route cost functions for EV drivers.

U.S. Department of Transportation

Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office

- The impacts from real-time routing recommendations are typically modeled by allowing travelers to deviate from their original route based on real-time information using simplified, symmetrical networks. However, evaluating such behaviors, such as oscillations caused by a time lag in congestion after numerous travelers deviate from their original routes, has not been studied using real-world behaviors and realistic network configurations.
- Zero occupancy travel choices have been modeled based on monetary cost minimization (operational costs + parking fares).

3 Potential Synergies and Conflicts

Numerous travel behavior shifts have been identified resulting from AV, traveler connectivity, and EV technologies in isolation, all with potential to significantly impact network efficiency and performance. However, a deeper understanding is needed as to how these mega-trends interact with one another in realistic environments where the three technologies coexist. There is also a need to integrate these findings into current AMS toolsets to better estimate impacts of these technologies and inform requisite policies and/or designs that maximize societal benefits. The following section takes findings from the literature review to help identify potential relationships (complementary or competitive) between the various technologies and guide future research activities.

3.1 Automation & Connectivity

Network efficiency [complement]: Assuming that policy/regulatory frameworks are in place to ensure that automated decision-making is in the best interest of society (i.e., AVs programmed to maximize system benefits), the pairing of automation and connectivity technologies can improve data processing and optimization times to react quicker to incoming data resulting in improved safety and efficiency. Connectivity also provides an improved representation of surrounding conditions to augment data received from onboard sensors to further improve decision making tasks. From a travel behavior perspective, this combination of technologies has the potential to shift en-route travel decisions (departure time, routing, parking) from user to system optimal.

Network inefficiency [conflict]: Previous studies have shown that drivers make rational (or selfish) decisions when real-time information is provided. This behavior, coupled with recommendation systems that use simple heuristics, can lead to transportation network misuse and increased congestion. If AVs are privately owned and programmed to maximize user utility (which is likely), it is expected that these issues will only be exacerbated. In addition, local context (e.g., steep grades, one lane roads, school zones) will be even more important to consider when making routing decisions as AVs will have less experience in such scenarios, which will result in increased risks.

Affordable mobility alternatives (shared service model) [complement]: The combination of automation and connectivity can enable new mobility service models that are more convenient, efficient, and affordable. Currently, labor costs for public transit service are close to 70% of the total operating costs. If labor costs can be removed, the costs of shared mobility systems will decrease drastically resulting in improved access and potentially reduced vehicle ownership. Connectivity and automation technologies also enable more flexible (on-demand) and

convenient (door-to-door) service, which can result in numerous benefits to access, efficiency (fewer, high utilization vehicles serving the same demand), and sustainability. From a behavioral perspective, if such a model takes hold, we can expect mode shift between both public transit and private vehicles to a more shared, on-demand system. Vehicle behaviors will shift from user optimal to fleet optimal (which can result in system optimal conditions at high enough fleet penetration levels [25]), repositioning strategies between passengers will be profit maximizing, and interactions at the curb will be more short-term (pickup/drop-off) as opposed to longer-term parking.

Lower costs to travel (private ownership model) [conflict]: The combination of automation and connectivity can lower marginal costs of travel by allowing travelers to disengage from all decision making. In this situation, the generalized cost of travel decreases for the user due to lower stress and travel time sensitivity. Additionally, efficiency gains can be achieved through more efficient driving maneuvers (e.g., smaller headways, smoother driving, platooning). The high upfront costs for connected automated vehicles will reserve these benefits to higherincome populations and lead to increased driving (and congestion) as the service gap between personal driving and alternative modes (public transit) continues to grow. From a travel behavior standpoint, we can expect increased driving from affluent populations due to lower costs for travel. The combination of connectivity and autonomy also provides additional uses and flexibility for zero occupancy trips (e.g., delivery, errands, cruising, collaboration to create congestion to reduce cruising costs), thus increasing VMT. This scenario will lead to high societal costs due to costs felt by conventional drivers in a mixed environment.

3.2 Automation & Electrification

Improved access to charging [complement]: The primary constraints for EVs compared to traditional ICE vehicles are related to battery range and access to charging. However, the ability to send EVs to charge when convenient is a huge advantage which will facilitate faster adoption of EVs. From a behavioral perspective, the influence of certain factors (e.g., SOC at destination, destination choice, availability of charging at destination, eco-routing, trip cancelation / abandonment) on travel choices will become less sensitive with the ability to expand charging "catchment areas" and decouple the need for charging at travel destinations.

Regional travel constraints [conflict]: Automated vehicles reduce VOTT for long-distance trips (primarily for trips between 100-500 miles) and allow for resting/sleeping while traveling. This shift in travel time flexibility can lead to induced demand and significant mode shift from short-haul flights due to drastic reductions in travel costs. This change in travel behavior can be beneficial to the environment with EVs, however, range limitations negate the benefits by adding travel time and inconvenience due to required charging along the route. This will be especially detrimental for overnight trips. From a travel behavior perspective, this limitation will likely lead to slower adoption of electrified AVs and increased ICE AV purchases to ensure AV benefits are fully realized.

Empty vehicle routing [conflict]: Automation enables zero occupancy travel, which can lead to a significant increase in VMT. Based on the literature, zero occupancy travel decisions will largely be based on monetary cost minimization. Therefore, there will be an incentive to route automated EVs on local roads because EVs are most efficient at slow speeds and in stop-and-go conditions. The combination of technologies can significantly impact network efficiency without the appropriate policies in place.

3.3 Connectivity & Electrification

Enhanced charging reliability [complement]: The most important factors affecting travel choice for EV users are related to battery and charging constraints. Connectivity technologies that provide real time charging information (wait times, charging costs, locations, charging types) to EV travelers can drastically reduce associated travel costs related to range anxiety and reliability. The combination of the two technologies can lead to faster adoption of EVs and more rational travel and charging behavior.

"Selfish" routing and charging [conflict]: While reliable access to charging information can promote faster EV adoption, the same algorithms that recommend selfish routes for network travelers (e.g., Google Maps, Waze) can behave similarly when recommending charging, thus exacerbating congestion and wait times. From a travel behavior perspective, it is anticipated that EV drivers will look to maximize individual utility when user optimal routing and charging recommendations are provided. In this environment, negative system level outcomes are expected for the same reasons why increased congestion is observed for "selfish" routing algorithms (use of heuristics, lack of full picture of network conditions, no context specific information, etc.).

3.4 Travel Behavior Change Due To The Convergence Of Three Mega-Trends

The convergence of three mega-trends will drastically impact the way travelers use and interact with the transportation system. Based on the literature reviewed, significant travel behavior shifts are already occurring due to traveler connectivity technologies and electric vehicles. From a traveler connectivity standpoint, access to new information and services have increased benefits for *individual* travelers through improved travel time reliability, convenience, and greater access to alternative modes. At the same time, *social* costs have been observed in the form of increased congestion and misuse of transportation infrastructure due to selfish routing and simple heuristics used by digital navigation apps. The opposite was observed for EVs, as battery range constraints and lack of reliable access to charging has increased *individual* travel costs (e.g., range anxiety, more complex decision-making, battery reliability) and reduced *social* costs through emissions reductions. Highly and fully automated vehicles promise both individual and societal benefits, which will largely depend on which operational model that takes hold

(private versus public). However, due to limited deployments, the impacts from AVs remain speculative.

Thinking towards the future when L4-L5 AVs are also available, it is expected that individual benefits will be magnified through cheaper, more convenient travel options. Social benefits are also expected through enhancements to safety, efficiency, accessibility, and sustainability. However, when thinking a little deeper about the various technologies, their interactions, and likely use cases, it is also easy to dream up scenarios where significant societal costs are incurred due to decisions that maximize individual utility. System level impacts of such behaviors will be more pronounced in the connected, autonomous, and electrified era because charging and parking choices will have greater impacts on network performance. For example, charging type, locations, and pricing will impact behavior more compared to ICE vehicles and gas stations because of range anxiety, fewer charging options, and larger variation in fuel pricing (e.g., time of day pricing). The same goes for parking, as decisions become more impactful as options increase (e.g., send car home, send car to charge, seek congestion to avoid paying parking fares, among others). In addition, growing system complexity will result in greater reliance on simple recommendation systems (e.g., apps that provide recommendations for charging, parking, and routing), which can lead to increased system delays. And research has already shown that close to 75% of app users follow recommendations more than 80% of the time [17], which can result in significant impacts. In conclusion, widespread behavior shifts are expected, however, large uncertainty still exists as to how the three mega-trends technologies will be used and their resulting impacts-positive or negative-to the transportation system. Many realistic scenarios exist where complementary relationships between the technologies lead to greater societal benefits. However, such relationships are not guaranteed, and strategic interventions will likely be needed to ensure societal net benefits. A summary of findings from the literature related to potential behavioral shifts and their resulting impacts are shown in Figure 2.

It is also important to note that traveler connectivity, automation, and electric vehicle technologies also enable decision makers to rethink how fueling (more specifically, the electric grid) interacts with transportation infrastructure. Automation and connectivity enhance fueling flexibility, which is currently needed due to numerous grid constraints. At the same time, regional electricity generation is usually managed and operated by one decision making entity. Therefore, there is opportunity to institute various pricing and incentive strategies to help manage both charging demand and traffic conditions. In such a setting, travel behaviors can be managed to maximize system-level benefits. Therefore, it will be important to study behavioral responses to new and innovative dynamic pricing schemes that can vary in space and time enabled by the three mega-trend technologies.



Source: ITS JPO

Figure 2. Summary of Findings Related to Travel Behavior Changes Resulting from AVs, EVs, and Traveler Connectivity Technologies.

U.S. Department of Transportation Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office

4 Modeling EV/AV/CV with AMS tools: Gaps, Challenges, & Recommendations

Based on the literature, several behavioral shifts due to traveler connectivity, AVs, and EVs were identified that can significantly impact AMS results if they are not considered during modeling and simulation tasks. The general finding considering all three technologies is that travel costs are expected to decrease resulting in increased VMT. Mode shift is also expected from alternative modes to electric AVs (both in private and shared service models) due to improved convenience and reduced travel costs. Generally, these behavioral shifts are straightforward to model within current AMS tools by altering travel time and travel cost functions. Other potential shifts in travel behavior were also identified that present new modeling challenges due to shifts in how travelers use and interact with transportation infrastructure. These observed and projected behavioral changes are the focus of the following section, and are as follows:

- Shared service models are growing in popularity due to a seamless travel experience enabled by connectivity (e.g., door-to-door, on-demand, frictionless payment, driver/passenger rating systems, information provision). As fleets grow to accommodate rising demand, new travel behaviors and vehicle-infrastructure relationships will need to be captured in modeling and simulation tasks, such as fleet optimal behaviors, deadheading decisions, and pickup/drop-off interactions with the curb.
- Zero-occupancy trips will be significant contributors of increased VMT in a highly automated environment. Zero-occupancy travel choices will also differ from conventional drivers, and in many cases, will lead to high system costs without the appropriate policies in place. For example, cost minimizing behavior for autonomous EVs would be to seek out congestion to conserve energy. There is also uncertainty as to what types of trips will be taken by zerooccupancy vehicles (e.g., EVs to charge), and how goods/services providers might alter their business models to accommodate a highly/fully automated environment (e.g., grocery, drycleaning, pickup/delivery). All of this is to say that significant zero-occupancy travel is a realistic outcome of automated vehicle technologies, and new travel behaviors and service models need to be considered to realistically capture network impacts.
- No roads are off limits. Digital navigation apps are designed to consider all road types with no local context, which can lead to widespread misuse of transportation infrastructure. Examples include the re-routing of tractor trailers along local roads with insufficient clearance and/or sharp turns and steep grades and re-routing commuter traffic along local roads with significant pedestrian use. AMS tools are designed to capture network impacts when travelers use the infrastructure as intended. However, in the new era of digital navigation, it will be important to capture the impacts of new individual decision-making systems and their misuse of the transportation infrastructure system. AVs and EVs can exacerbate these issues when similar recommendation systems are also used for charging and autonomous parking.

U.S. Department of Transportation

Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office EV drivers must consider new factors (SOC at origin, SOC at destination, locations of charging, energy-efficient routes, and risk behaviors) when making travel choices. These factors can lead to different travel choices between individuals traveling between the same origins and destinations. Heterogeneous behaviors, spatial layout of charging, and potential charging supply/demand mismatches must all be considered to capture realistic EV travel behavior. In addition, autonomous EVs will also behave in unforeseen ways as self-charging now becomes feasible and zero-occupancy travel will likely seek out highly congested routes to minimize energy consumption and resulting costs.

The key takeaway from the above findings is that the transportation system is growing in complexity and there is a need to integrate these more complex and varied decision-making processes into AMS tools. Traveler connectivity has enabled new modes and service models that are affordable and convenient. Significant growth in the use of these services will require AMS tools to model heterogeneous vehicle behaviors with different objectives. Additionally, new situations will need to be integrated, such as the ability to pickup/drop-off anywhere or at managed curbs designed to optimize short term parking situations, which will become prevalent in the age of ridehailing and autonomous vehicles. Vehicle powertrain types will also be important to include when modeling travel choices. From the literature, EV driver decisions, starting with mode choice and ending with parking decisions all factor in SOC and charging availability. New utility functions that also include risk behaviors and spatial-temporal charging conditions will need to be integrated with current AMS tools to accurately capture EV driving behaviors. Finally, fully automated vehicles no longer require drivers, which can fundamentally change how people interact with the transportation system. It is anticipated that zero-occupancy vehicles will behave in a cost minimizing fashion, which can lead to increased congestion, especially with high EV penetration rates. AMS tools need to incorporate these behaviors and develop a deeper understanding of how these behaviors may evolve as new modes and services enter the market.

Historically, AMS tools have been developed to manage vehicle flows throughout the transportation network. However, recent efforts have been made to incorporate new modes and travel behaviors to capture realistic insights due to the integration of new technologies and services. The following section characterizes current AMS capabilities and identifies potential shortcomings related to the various travel behavior shifts mentioned above.

Shared service models: Due to the rapid growth in ridehailing and other on-demand services, many commercially available AMS tools, such as PTV Group (Visum, Vissim, MaaS Modeler) and Aimsum, have developed on-demand fleet management packages to help inform strategic, tactical, and operational decisions for fleet managers and city/regional planners alike. In both cases, fleet optimal algorithms can be specified, and resulting congestion impacts from access/egress can be computed. The drawback to these tools is that they were developed for transportation engineers/fleet managers faced with decisions about the deployment of on-demand services, fleet sizes, and service areas. Actual driver behaviors associated with ridehailing services (trip cancelations, deadheading, and pickup/drop-off) are not captured and modeled for realistic network impacts. In addition, the changing behaviors and operational models related to vehicle automation and electrification are not captured by existing AMS tools.

For example, automation drastically cuts travel costs, which would incentivize more aggressive repositioning strategies for fleet vehicles (i.e., willingness to travel further distances to serve more expensive trip requests). On the other hand, EV drivers will likely exhibit more conservative repositioning strategies or choose to take more energy-efficient local roads to minimize energy costs and charging instances and maximize profits. These behaviors are particularly important as both Uber and Lyft have pledged to be zero-emissions platforms by 2030 [92], [93]. Overall, commercial tools do exist to model some of the impacts from shared fleet operations. However, additional capabilities are needed to capture the new driver behaviors that might result from autonomous and electric vehicle technologies, and are as follows:

- Repositioning strategies how will EV drivers/AVs behave between passenger drop-offs and subsequent pickups? And how will they differ from current operations?
- Routing decisions profit maximizing routes might shift for EV drivers as vehicles are more efficient at slower speeds.
- Pickup/drop-off AVs will likely be programmed to seek areas outside of traffic streams, while EVs might seek zero/low-emissions curbs.
- Fleet behavior AV fleets will be centrally operated and compliant, which will behavior closer to fleet optimal compared to driver-based ridehailing where drivers can still make individual decisions. EV fleets will also need to consider charging during operations, which might lead to different routing and deadheading choices to maximize EV fleet performance.

Zero-occupancy trips: There is a rich literature related to integrating AVs into microscopic modeling frameworks by modifying supply and capacity characteristics to mimic reduced headways and reaction times with commercially available tools. Outputs from such models can be used to simulate impacts at the network level using a multi-resolution modeling framework. However, missing from these tools are the zero-occupancy driving state, which exhibits different behavior and can be a significant contributor to VMT. The types of behaviors exhibited by zero-occupancy vehicles will differ depending on trip type and duration. Lower duration trips will still place value on being able to hail the vehicle in a reasonable amount of time. Longer duration decisions will likely be monetary cost minimizing, which could result in cruising behaviors that seek congestion to avoid parking fares. Electrification adds further issues as EVs are most efficient at slow travel speeds and in stop-and-go traffic. The ability to charge autonomously will also play a role in how vehicles move throughout the network seeking charging options that minimize total costs. Currently, AMS tools do not model these trips, which can account for significant VMT. Further research is also needed related to new travel behaviors resulting from electric EVs, such as travel cost functions and self-charging behaviors.

Network utilization from digital navigation apps: Starting in 2013, digital navigation apps began offering routing recommendations [4]. This new offering has fundamentally changed how travelers move through and interact with the transportation network. City planners and engineers design the transportation network based on hierarchical roadway types and various controls to help manage system efficiency. This design framework is how AMS tools are developed to help inform designs and investments based on a general understanding of how

U.S. Department of Transportation Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office

the network will be used. However, routing recommendation apps fundamentally change how the network is used by oversimplifying the infrastructure and providing selfish routing recommendations. This has led to numerous problems that includes higher volumes of traffic using low-speed local streets with many pedestrians and routing vehicles on streets with limited site distances and narrow lanes, leading to increased delays and collisions [4]. These issues will be exacerbated with automated and electric vehicles because similar heuristic routing strategies will be used for charging and parking recommendations, which can lead to significant network delays. Additionally, AVs will likely be programed to behave conservatively, which might result in further delays when presented with new situations recommended by real-time navigation apps (e.g., narrow steep neighborhood roads versus arterials). In the absence of improved coordination between app providers and transportation decision makers, AMS tools need to capture this behavior to flag problem areas for strategic interventions. Capturing these behaviors would require higher resolution network representations and relaxed assumptions. Multi-resultion modeling frameworks will also be needed to capture local characteristics and their resulting network-level impacts.

EV behaviors: Numerous models exist that were developed to help guide the transition for electric vehicles, such as Aimsum's battery consumption modeling capabilities [94], HIVE's EV fleet modeling tools [90], and EVI-X's tools to inform large-scale charging deployments [95]. However, the more complex individual decision-making processes that include risk behaviors, SOC, and charging accessibility are not currently captured in commercially available AMS tools. And according to the literature, these factors can have significant impacts for EV travel choices that include the choice to take a trip or not (dependent on vehicle range, charging accessibility, and current SOC), mode choice, departure time (current SOC), trip cancelation, route choice (charging accessibility, energy-efficient route) and parking decisions (access to charging). These choices will also vary based on risk attitudes due to unfamiliarity with EV technologies and variability in battery range due to factors such as weather and road grade. In addition, automation will add new considerations when modeling EVs in the transportation network. First, in the zero-occupancy state, autonomous EVs will seek out low-speed, stop-and-go routes to conserve energy and minimize costs when travel time is not a consideration. Therefore, an improved understanding of wait time and travel cost sensitivities are needed for autonomous EVs. Next, automation relaxes spatial constraints related to charging, which are currently governing many EV travel behaviors. Travelers can now choose destinations without considering SOC and access to charging as vehicles can now drive themselves to charging opportunities. These behaviors are not well understood and are not currently captured by AMS tools. In conclusion, the rapid proliferation of EVs (expected to reach 62-88% of new car sales by 2030 by some estimates [96]), will shift travel behaviors for the majority of drivers, which are fundamentally different than those exhibited by ICE vehicle drivers. AMS tools must consider these changes through an improved representation of EV decision making processes and integration of charging conditions (for all charging speeds) to capture realistic network behaviors. The charging process itself will also require modeling to estimate waiting and rerouting behaviors during peak charging periods.

Based on the review of available AMS tools, several gaps were identified in their abilities to capture and model changing travel behaviors in the connected, automated, and electrified era. Shortcomings identified in the previous sections were used to inform recommendations related to AMS tool enhancements, and are as follows:

Shared service models:

- Develop deeper understanding related to AV and EV fleet behaviors deployed as ridehailing services, such as how routing, charging, cost of travel, and parking/curb interactions will likely change compared to current driver-based services.
- Integrate fleet (% EV and % AV), individual (risk attitudes for EVs), and vehicle level (SOC, range, fuel type) characteristics to more accurately model travel choices at a higher level of granularity.

Zero-occupancy trips:

- Model vehicle travel that begins at the destination and makes cruising/parking decisions based on zero-occupancy travel cost functions.
- Model new, potential zero-occupancy scenarios, such as "self-charging" for EV vehicles or running errands/deliveries.
- Integrate new decision-making processes/choices, such as tradeoffs between parking costs and estimated pickup wait times for private AVs and quantifying this relationship as a function of duration of time spent at the location.
- Modify travel cost functions and the relative importance of different factors (e.g., travel cost, travel time, reliability) for zero-occupancy trips based on trip types.

Network utilization:

- Relax assumptions related to facility use and integrate context-specific information that could impact network performance if the road is not used as intended (e.g., bridge clearances, difficult roads [narrow, steep grades, etc.]).
- Develop methods to model rational decision-making in the EV charging and AV parking contexts.

EV charging/routing:

- Capture different risk behaviors related to EV charging and routing.
- Integrate the details needed to capture realistic EV travel behavior: 1) vehicle range, 2) SOC at origin and destination, 3) charging supply including charger types (L1, L2, DCFC), location, pricing information, and estimated wait times. And how travel choices (trip abandonment) might change as a function of battery reliability (weather conditions, energy-intensive routes, etc.)
- Consider zero-occupancy charging behavior that includes modified travel cost functions and the influence of charging reliability, speed, pricing, and wait times on self-charging choices.
- Model the charging process itself based on supply/demand (e.g., queueing, reliability, charging time as a function of outside conditions) and vehicle/charger technology.
 Recommendation systems, constrained supply, and longer fueling times will impact the

U.S. Department of Transportation Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office

surrounding network in unforeseen ways. The charging phase of a trip will also become much larger, which should be integrated with travel choice models.

Figure 3 summarizes the above findings for the three mega-trend technologies in isolation and when interacting in a real-world setting. Specific gaps/challenges related to both behavioral response to emerging technologies and modeling limitations are identified for the different deployment scenarios.

| tion | | ^t ær | Risk attitudes, new factors influencing travel choices (SOC at origin / destination, battery range, charging access, reliability, wait time, location); charging behavior (charger type, capacity/charging time tradeoffs) |
|------------|---------------------|-----------------|--|
| and Simula | Individual | | Zero-occupancy travel (cost functions and use cases); fleet behaviors (routing, deadheading, pickup/drop-off). |
| | | , L | Selfish decision making based on digital navigation apps leading to misuse of network and unforeseen impacts, growth of shared service models (and their operating behaviors and decision-making cost functions). |
| ng, i | | | Charging behaviors based on real-time information/recommendations. |
| deli | Interactions | j | Operational behaviors of shared autonomous fleets; zero-occupancy travel behavior; new use cases for zero-occupancy travel (delivery, errands, etc.). |
| Mo | | Ĭ Ģ | Cost functions for zero-occupancy travel (congestion seeking (?)); self charging behaviors. |
| Analysis, | Full integration | | Operational behaviors of shared electric, autonomous fleets (integration of charging and range limitations for high-utilization vehicles); new interactions with infrastructure (curb, zero-occupancy travel, charging); new incentive schemes enables by electric charging. |

Source: ITS JPO

Figure 3. Summary of Gaps/Challenges Related to AMS Tools in the Era of Traveler Connectivity, AVs, and EVs.

U.S. Department of Transportation

Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office

5 Conclusions and Next Steps

This analysis set out to gather research related to the travel behavior impacts of connectivity, AVs, and EVs. The scope of the work was narrowed down to focus on traveler connectivity (access to real-time information through smartphone apps and new modes and services enabled by connectivity), highly/fully automated vehicles, and personal EVs due to their potential to significantly impact travel behaviors. Significant literature exists focused on connectivity, AVs, and EVs, which is difficult to fully capture in one white paper. However, specific questions were addressed, and a summary of findings are provided below.

5.1 Responses to key questions

What are the travel behavior impacts resulting from automation, connectivity, and vehicle electrification?

All three mega-trend technologies impact travel choices in diverse ways. Traveler connectivity, AVs, and EVs provide numerous benefits to the individual traveler by reducing travel time uncertainty, providing new, convenient alternatives to private vehicle travel, reducing travel costs due to ability to multi-task, and reducing monetary operational costs by smoother driving behaviors and lower costs of electricity (compared to gas). The specific travel behaviors identified for each technology are as follows:

- Digital Navigation [traveler connectivity] Real-time travel information and constant recommendations has led to selfish travel behaviors and misuse of transportation infrastructure (e.g., using local roads for long-distance travel and freeways for local travel).
- Shared service models [traveler connectivity] Smartphone connectivity has led to numerous new and convenient mobility service offerings, which has led to significant growth of these services, which behave and interact with transportation infrastructure in new ways (fleet-based decision making, deadheading behaviors, pickup/drop-off curb interactions).
- Induced travel [automated vehicles] Lower VOTT were observed for commute and longdistance trips for automated vehicles, leading to more travel and lower travel time sensitivities. This finding also indicates that travelers are more willing to experience delays when multi-tasking options are available.
- Zero occupancy travel [automated vehicles] Additional travel without a passenger is
 expected for AV owners because travel costs can be reduced or eliminating by sending
 empty vehicles to cheaper parking or to pick up family/friends. These behaviors will create
 additional trips affecting traditional trip generation models. Additionally, travel cost functions
 will require modifications because monetary factors will become more important compared
 to travel time and delay costs when vehicles are operating in zero occupancy mode.

U.S. Department of Transportation

Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office

- Complex decision-making processes [electric vehicles] EV owners must consider SOC at origin/destination, battery range, access to charging, charger reliability and wait times, and potential charging at the destination when making travel choices. These complex choices lead to a variety of different travel behaviors, from eco-routing to tradeoffs between detour length and charging speeds/reliability, among many others.
- Risk attitudes [electric vehicles] EV owners also exhibit different risk attitudes, which can lead to different choices that are tied to the current constraints of EV technology (range, limited access to charging, large variations in range) and technology unfamiliarity.

What are some potential synergies and conflicts between emerging technologies that could alter travel behavior?

The combination of mega-trend technologies was found to be complementary in many settings. However, it is also easy to identify situations where the coupling of two or more technologies led to individual benefits at the expense of system performance. The identified relationships were as follows:

Traveler connectivity + AVs:

- Network efficiency [Complementary] Real-time data processing and automated decision making can help shift network behaviors to be more system optimal (especially in fleet settings) in the appropriate policy and regulatory framework.
- Network inefficiency [Conflicting] Without policy/regulation, AVs will likely be programmed to maximize individual benefits at the expense of network costs. Enhanced automation capabilities with real-time network information can act upon real-time data from multiple sources to further improve individual decision making resulting in degraded network performance.
- Transportation affordability (shared service models) [Complementary] Removing the driver for public mobility systems can drastically reduce operational costs, which can be passed on to users in the form of reduced fares and improved service performance.
- Reduced operational costs (private service model) [Conflicting] High upfront costs of AV technologies and low operational costs can lead to greater VMT (and congestion) by affluent populations, which will increase societal costs in a mixed-use environment.

AVs + EVs:

- Access to charging [Complementary] Automation expands access to charging and decouples the need to have charging available at specific destination locations. The ability to send AVs to charge reduces EV constraints, leading to greater use and adoption at the expense of increased VMT.
- Regional travel [Conflicting] AVs provide new, convenient options for regional travel which can be cancelled out by limited range of EVs. This can lead to slower adoption of EVs to increased regional travel with ICE vehicles.
- Zero-occupancy travel [Conflicting] Zero-occupancy travel will seek to reduce monetary
 costs as travel time costs become irrelevant in many cases. This could result in electric AVs
 seeking out congestion and stop-and-go traffic to reduce energy consumption and
 associated costs.

Traveler connectivity + EVs:

- Enhanced charging reliability [Complementary] Real-time information related to routing, charger locations, and wait times will provide travelers with information to ease range anxiety and reduce overall travel costs related to EV travel. This will facilitate faster EV adoption and more travel using EVs.
- "Selfish" routing/charging [Conflicting] Access to more real-time information can also facilitate increased opportunities for individuals to make utility maximizing choices, which can cause greater network/charging congestion.

What are the gaps/challenges related to representing travel behavioral shifts in current AMS tools?

Based on findings from the literature review, four key areas were identified in which current AMS tools have shortcomings when it comes to modeling scenarios in the age of traveler connectivity, AVs, and EVs. The four focus areas were: 1) Shared service models, 2) Zero-occupancy trips, 3) Network utilization, and 4) EV charging and routing. More specific details regarding gaps and challenges are as follows:

- Shared service models Need to integrate changing behaviors resulting from AVs/EVs for fleet-based mobility services with AMS tools, such as how drivers will behave when using EVs (near-term) and how operations will differ when shared mobility services eliminate drivers and use AVs (longer-term). These behaviors are different compared to individual travelers because different factors are considered when making choices about picking up passengers, traveling between passengers, and dropping off passengers. Fleet decision-making also comes into play, as both driver-based and autonomous on-demand fleets are centrally operated.
- Zero-occupancy trips New types of trips and new interactions with infrastructure are enabled by AVs, such as autonomous charging, parking, cruising, and pickup/drop-offs. Zero-occupancy VMT is expected to be significant, which will require modeling these types of trips (including the charging phase) to better understand impacts and design interventions. New tradeoffs will also need to be evaluated (access time vs. parking costs) to gain a deeper understanding about decision-making in the mega-trend era.
- **Network utilization** Travel connectivity apps that provide real-time recommendations about routing, charging, and parking can result in significant network delays and misuse. Understanding these new interactions and incorporating them into AMS tools will be important to design strategic interventions. This will likely require a high-resolution representation of the network that includes information such a bridge clearance, steep grades, sharp turns, lane widths, among others and methods to estimate macro-level impacts using multi-resolution modeling frameworks.
- EV charging/routing Travel choices become more complex in the mega-trend era due to numerous new constraints and capabilities. In addition to travel cost and travel time, common travel choices will require information related to SOC at origin/destination, vehicle range, charging supply including charger types, location, pricing information, and wait times. In addition, due to variation in battery range, different risk attitudes will also have to be modeled because route, charging, and cancelation decisions will vary between individuals.

U.S. Department of Transportation

Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office Finally, charging itself now represents a significant part of a trip, which can have widespread network implications in not captured in modeling frameworks.

Overall, the key takeaway from this study is that transportation systems are growing in complexity resulting in more complicated decision-making processes and new interactions and relationships between users, vehicles, and infrastructure. Individuals have different perspectives, risk attitudes, and internal utility functions that need to be captured in a more rigorous way as new services, information, and technologies flood the transportation landscape. The vehicles themselves will also exhibit different behaviors depending on if they are autonomous, part of a fleet, or electric. To capture these changing behaviors and interactions, AMS tools will need to develop methods to consider heterogeneous behaviors and characteristics at the individual, vehicle, and infrastructure component level. Charging network characteristics will also be increasingly important as EV market share continues to climb. Information such as charging speed, reliability, supply/demand characteristics at specific locations, inductive charging capabilities, among others will all influence EV travel behaviors in different ways.

5.2 Recommendations for Future Research

Travel choices differ significantly between ICE and EV drivers due to range anxiety, range constraints, and limited (not well distributed) charging infrastructure. EV and ICE drivers traveling between similar origin-destination pairs may take completely different routes and park at different locations based on their vehicle state of charge (SOC), risk attitudes, and charging access at the destination. Therefore, travel behaviors (including risk attitudes) as a function of vehicle fuel type need to be studied further and integrated into current AMS tools.

Constrained charger supply in both time and space can significantly alter travel behaviors in unforeseen ways, especially when self-charging becomes available using autonomous vehicles. The charging portion of the trip (location, time required, wait times, charger type) is a significant factor impacting travel choices, which is often not considered in EV travel behavior studies. Further research is needed that quantifies travel behaviors as functions of charger locations, queueing at charger, charging times, charger types, and whether the vehicles are human driven or autonomous. These findings can help inform new traveler behavior models that capture complex decision-making processes for EV drivers and automated EVs.

Real-time recommendations from travel apps, such as Google Maps or Waze, have drastically increased cut-through traffic and have caused problems when local context is not considered (e.g., bridge clearance for large trucks, school zones, steep grades). Such problems will likely increase in the megatrend era with recommendations for charging, eco-routing, autonomous parking, among others. Therefore, there is a need to study human responses to real-time recommendations (across a variety of contexts) and integrate these behaviors into AMS tools. There is also a need to better understand the underlying data that is being used to inform recommendations and the computational tradeoffs of including richer data streams for improved guidance.

Numerous automobile manufacturers are developing and deploying SAE L2-L3 (hands-free) systems using pre-mapped roads and/or specific operational design domains (ODD). In such ODDs, drivers can monitor the vehicle hands-free (for SAE L2) or can engage in other tasks (for SAE L3), reducing individual travel costs. The rapid development of these systems and scarce publicly available data limits our understanding of human decision making when presented with tradeoffs between travel time and ease of driving. To address this gap, further research is needed to identify changing travel behaviors resulting from commercially available, hands-free features. For example, will travelers select longer routes and/or prioritize pre-mapped routes (usually freeways) if they offered more hands-free driving?

In the longer-term, highly automated vehicles (SAE L4-L5) bring new capabilities, which can alter the relationship between travelers, vehicles, and infrastructure. For example, zero-occupancy vehicles can be used to charge/park themselves and potentially run errands (assuming service models evolve with the technology). Such vehicles will utilize different cost functions compared to human drivers, with higher importance placed on monetary costs (e.g., parking costs, fuel costs) and reduced sensitivity to travel time/delay. The potential for zero-occupancy travel to contribute to significant VMT, congestion, and delays highlights the importance of considering these types of trips in modeling and simulation exercises. In the near-term, the majority of SAE L4-L5 vehicles will likely be part of a ridehailing fleet. And if such shared mobility services gain significant market penetration, it will be important to integrate fleet-optimal algorithms (considering both AVs and EVs) and perspectives into AMS tools, which is an area with limited research.

6 References

- [1] BloombergNEF, "Lithium-Ion Battery Pack Prices Hit Record Low of \$139/kWh." Accessed: Jan. 05, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://about.bnef.com/blog/lithium-ion-battery-packprices-hit-record-low-of-139-kwh/
- [2] D. Levinson and K. Krizek, *The End of Traffic and the Future of Access: A Roadmap to the New Transport Landscape*. 2017.
- [3] G. D. Erhardt, S. Roy, D. Cooper, B. Sana, M. Chen, and J. Castiglione, "Do transportation network companies decrease or increase congestion?," *Sci. Adv.*, vol. 5, no. 5, p. eaau2670, May 2019, doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aau2670.
- [4] "Your Navigation App Is Making Traffic Unmanageable IEEE Spectrum." Accessed: Jan. 10, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://spectrum.ieee.org/your-navigation-app-is-makingtraffic-unmanageable
- [5] "Waymo Self-Driving Cars Autonomous Vehicles Ride-Hail," Waymo. Accessed: Jan. 05, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://waymo.com/
- [6] "Autonomous Vehicle Technology | Driverless Cars | Cruise." Accessed: Jan. 05, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://getcruise.com/technology/
- [7] SAE International, "Taxonomy and Definitions for Terms Related to Driving Automation Systems for On-Road Motor Vehicles." [Online]. Available: https://www.sae.org/content/j3016 202104
- [8] M. Harb, Y. Xiao, G. Circella, P. L. Mokhtarian, and J. L. Walker, "Projecting travelers into a world of self-driving vehicles: estimating travel behavior implications via a naturalistic experiment," *Transportation*, vol. 45, no. 6, pp. 1671–1685, Nov. 2018, doi: 10.1007/s11116-018-9937-9.
- [9] M. Muratori, T. Kunz, A. Hula, and M. Freedberg, "The U.S. National Blueprint for Transportation Decarbonization," Jan. 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2023-01/the-us-national-blueprint-fortransportation-decarbonization.pdf
- [10]"Electric vehicles," IEA. Accessed: Jan. 05, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.iea.org/energy-system/transport/electric-vehicles
- [11] L. Rayle, D. Dai, N. Chan, R. Cervero, and S. Shaheen, "Just a better taxi? A survey-based comparison of taxis, transit, and ridesourcing services in San Francisco," *Transp. Policy*, vol. 45, pp. 168–178, Jan. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.tranpol.2015.10.004.
- [12]D. J. Reck, H. Martin, and K. W. Axhausen, "Mode choice, substitution patterns and environmental impacts of shared and personal micro-mobility," *Transp. Res. Part Transp. Environ.*, vol. 102, p. 103134, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.trd.2021.103134.
- [13]A. J. Khattak, J. L. Schofer, and F. S. Koppelman, "Effect of traffic reports on commuters' route and departure time changes," in *Vehicle Navigation and Information Systems Conference*, 1991, Oct. 1991, pp. 669–679. doi: 10.1109/VNIS.1991.205812.
- [14] J. Wang and H. Rakha, "Empirical Study of Effect of Dynamic Travel Time Information on Driver Route Choice Behavior," *Sensors*, vol. 20, no. 11, p. 3257, Jun. 2020, doi: 10.3390/s20113257.

- [15]D. Metz, "The impact of digital navigation on travel behaviour," *UCL Open Environ.*, vol. 4, Apr. 2022, doi: 10.14324/111.444/ucloe.000034.
- [16]N. Calcea, "How Google Maps is ruining your neighbourhood," City Monitor. Accessed: Mar. 07, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://citymonitor.ai/environment/infrastructure/google-mapslocal-traffic
- [17]A. Guin et al., "Impact of Smartphone Applications on Trip Routing," U.S. DOT, 2021.
- [18]Z. Qian and H. M. Zhang, "A Hybrid Route Choice Model for Dynamic Traffic Assignment," *Netw. Spat. Econ.*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 183–203, Jun. 2013, doi: 10.1007/s11067-012-9177-z.
- [19]K. S. Liu, J. Gao, X. Wu, and S. Lin, "On-Street Parking Guidance with Real-Time Sensing Data for Smart Cities," in 2018 15th Annual IEEE International Conference on Sensing, Communication, and Networking (SECON), Hong Kong: IEEE, Jun. 2018, pp. 1–9. doi: 10.1109/SAHCN.2018.8397113.
- [20]S. Ahangari, C. Chavis, M. Jeihani, and Z. R. Moghaddam, "Quantifying the Effect of On-Street Parking Information on Congestion Mitigation using a Driving Simulator," *Transp. Res. Rec. J. Transp. Res. Board*, vol. 2672, no. 8, pp. 920–929, Dec. 2018, doi: 10.1177/0361198118773893.
- [21]S. Shaheen, E. Martin, A. Cohen, A. Musunuri, and A. Bhattacharyya, "A Review of Smartphone Apps and a Study of User Response to Multimodal Traveler Information".
- [22]J. Jiang, "More Americans are using ride-hailing apps," Pew Research Center. Accessed: Jan. 09, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.pewresearch.org/shortreads/2019/01/04/more-americans-are-using-ride-hailing-apps/
- [23] "Shared Micromobility in 2022," National Association of City Transportation Officials. Accessed: Jan. 09, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://nacto.org/publication/sharedmicromobility-in-2022/%20
- [24] "City's mandate to shift Uber, Lyft drivers to zero emissions poised for uphill battle," Crain's New York Business. Accessed: Jan. 09, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.crainsnewyork.com/transportation/citys-mandate-shift-uber-lyft-drivers-zeroemissions-poised-uphill-battle
- [25]M. Battifarano and S. Qian, "The Impact of Optimized Fleets in Transportation Networks," *Transp. Sci.*, vol. 57, no. 4, pp. 1047–1068, Jul. 2023, doi: 10.1287/trsc.2022.1189.
- [26]F. Fakhrmoosavi, K. Gurumurthy, K. Kockelman, C. Hunter, and M. Dean, "Parking Strategies and Outcomes for Shared Autonomous Vehicle Fleet Operations," *Journal of Transportation Engineering, Part A: Systems*, 2024.
- [27]A. Henao and W. Marshall, "An analysis of the individual economics of ride-hailing drivers," *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 2019.
- [28]S. Fuller, T. Kunz, and A. Brown, "Setting TNC Policies to Increase Sustainability," UC Davis, 2021.
- [29] "GM Expands Super Cruise Network to 750,000 Hands-Free Miles, Largest in North America." Accessed: Mar. 15, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://news.gm.com/public/us/en/gm/home/newsroom.detail.html/Pages/news/us/en/2024/f eb/0215-supercruise.html
- [30] "What is Ford BlueCruise hands-free driving?" Accessed: Mar. 15, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.ford.com/support/how-tos/ford-technology/driver-assist-features/what-is-fordbluecruise-hands-free-driving/
- [31]"ProPILOT 2.0 | Innovation |." Accessed: Mar. 15, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.nissan-global.com/EN/INNOVATION/TECHNOLOGY/ARCHIVE/AD2/
- [32] "We put our blind faith in Mercedes-Benz's first-of-its-kind autonomous Drive Pilot feature -The Verge." Accessed: Mar. 15, 2024. [Online]. Available:

U.S. Department of Transportation

Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office

https://www.theverge.com/2023/9/27/23892154/mercedes-benz-drive-pilot-autonomous-level-3-test

- [33]Z. Wadud, D. MacKenzie, and P. Leiby, "Help or hindrance? The travel, energy and carbon impacts of highly automated vehicles," *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 2016.
- [34]E. Lehtonen, J. Worle, F. Malin, B. Metz, and S. Innamaa, "Travel experience matters: Expected personal mobility impacts after simulated L3/L4 automated driving," 2021.
- [35]F. Steck, V. Kolarova, F. Bahamonde-Birke, S. Trommer, and B. Lenz, "How Autonomous Driving May Affect the Value of Travel Time Savings for Commuting," *Transp. Res. Rec.*, vol. 2672, no. 46, pp. 11–20, Dec. 2018, doi: 10.1177/0361198118757980.
- [36]G. H. D. A. Correia, E. Looff, S. Van Cranenburgh, M. Snelder, and B. Van Arem, "On the impact of vehicle automation on the value of travel time while performing work and leisure activities in a car: Theoretical insights and results from a stated preference survey," *Transp. Res. Part Policy Pract.*, vol. 119, pp. 359–382, Jan. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.tra.2018.11.016.
- [37]K. Kockelman *et al.*, "Understanding the Impact of Autonomous Vehicles on Long-Distance Passenger and Freight Travel in Texas: FInal Report".
- [38]A. K. Fentress, "Commercial Short-Haul Flight or Autonomous Mobility-On-Demand: Modeling Air Passengers' Modal Choice".
- [39]Z. Tian, T. Feng, B. Yao, Y. Hu, and J. Zhang, "Where to park an autonomous vehicle? Results of a stated choice experiment," *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 2023.
- [40]A. Soteropoulos, M. Berger, and F. Ciari, "Impacts of automated vehicles on travel behaviour and land use: an international review of modelling studies," *Transp. Rev.*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 29–49, Jan. 2019, doi: 10.1080/01441647.2018.1523253.
- [41]L. Kroger, T. Kuhnimhof, and S. Trommer, "Does context matter? A comparative study modelling autonomous vehicle impact on travel behavior for Germany and the USA," *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 2019.
- [42]K. Kim, G. Rousseau, J. Freedman, and J. Nicholson, "The travel impact of autonomous vehicles in metro Atlanta through activity-based modeling.," presented at the TRB National Transportation Planning Applications Conference, 2015.
- [43]L. Kaplan and J. P. Helveston, "Undercutting Transit? Exploring Potential Competition Between Automated Vehicles and Public Transportation in the United States," *Transp. Res. Rec. J. Transp. Res. Board*, p. 03611981231208976, Nov. 2023, doi: 10.1177/03611981231208976.
- [44]P. Ashkrof, G. Homem De Almeida Correia, O. Cats, and B. Van Arem, "Impact of Automated Vehicles on Travel Mode Preference for Different Trip Purposes and Distances," *Transp. Res. Rec. J. Transp. Res. Board*, vol. 2673, no. 5, pp. 607–616, May 2019, doi: 10.1177/0361198119841032.
- [45]A. Millard-Ball, "The autonomous vehicle parking problem," *Transp. Policy*, vol. 75, pp. 99– 108, Mar. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.tranpol.2019.01.003.
- [46]M. Harb, J. Malik, G. Circella, and J. Walker, "Glimpse of the Future: Simulating Life with Personally Owned Autonomous Vehicles and Their Implications on Travel Behaviors," *Transp. Res. Rec. J. Transp. Res. Board*, vol. 2676, no. 3, pp. 492–506, Mar. 2022, doi: 10.1177/03611981211052543.
- [47]M. Harb, Y. Xiao, G. Circella, P. L. Mokhtarian, and J. L. Walker, "Projecting travelers into a world of self-driving vehicles: estimating travel behavior implications via a naturalistic experiment," *Transportation*, vol. 45, no. 6, pp. 1671–1685, Nov. 2018, doi: 10.1007/s11116-018-9937-9.

- [48]K. Othman, "Exploring the implications of autonomous vehicles: a comprehensive review," *Innov. Infrastruct. Solut.*, vol. 7, no. 2, p. 165, Apr. 2022, doi: 10.1007/s41062-022-00763-6.
- [49] "The road to affordable autonomous mobility | McKinsey." Accessed: Jan. 10, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/automotive-and-assembly/our-insights/theroad-to-affordable-autonomous-mobility
- [50]M. Heilig, T. Hilgert, N. Mallig, M. Kagerbauer, and P. Vortisch, "Potentials of Autonomous Vehicles in a Changing Private Transportation System – a Case Study in the Stuttgart Region," *Transp. Res. Procedia*, vol. 26, pp. 13–21, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.trpro.2017.07.004.
- [51]C. D. Harper, C. Hendrickson, S. Mangones, and C. Samaras, "Estimating potential increases in travel with autonomous vehicles for the non-driving, elderly and people with travel-restrictive medical conditions," *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, 2016.
- [52]K. Kirk, "Driving with electricity is much cheaper than with gasoline » Yale Climate Connections," Yale Climate Connections. Accessed: Jan. 11, 2024. [Online]. Available: http://yaleclimateconnections.org/2022/06/driving-with-electricity-is-much-cheaper-than-withgasoline/
- [53]Y. Yang, E. Yao, Z. Yang, and R. Zhang, "Modeling the charging and route choice behavior of BEV drivers," *Transp. Res. Part C Emerg. Technol.*, vol. 65, pp. 190–204, Apr. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.trc.2015.09.008.
- [54]P. Ashkrof, G. Homem De Almeida Correia, and B. Van Arem, "Analysis of the effect of charging needs on battery electric vehicle drivers' route choice behaviour: A case study in the Netherlands," *Transp. Res. Part Transp. Environ.*, vol. 78, p. 102206, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.trd.2019.102206.
- [55]T. Wang, Y. Yang, T. Tang, and X. Qu, "An unnoticed side effect of electric vehicles".
- [56]C. C. Rolim, G. N. Gonçalves, T. L. Farias, and Ó. Rodrigues, "Impacts of Electric Vehicle Adoption on Driver Behavior and Environmental Performance," *Procedia - Soc. Behav. Sci.*, vol. 54, pp. 706–715, Oct. 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.09.788.
- [57]J. Langbroek, J. P. Franklin, and Y. O. Susilo, "A stated adaptation instrument for studying travel patterns after electric vehicle adoption," *Transp. Res. Procedia*, vol. 32, pp. 464–473, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.trpro.2018.10.045.
- [58] J. H. M. Langbroek, J. P. Franklin, and Y. O. Susilo, "How would you change your travel patterns if you used an electric vehicle? A stated adaptation approach," *Travel Behav. Soc.*, vol. 13, pp. 144–154, Oct. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.tbs.2018.08.001.
- [59]Y. Al-Wreikat, "Driving behaviour and trip condition effects on the energy consumption of an electric vehicle under real-world driving".
- [60]M. Rubeis, Groves, G. Bonaccorsi, T. Portera, F. Masci, and C. Chalouhi, "A New Era for Fuel Retailers," Boston Consulting Group, 2022.
- [61] "The Gas Station's Hidden Battle to Survive," POLITICO. Accessed: Mar. 07, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.politico.com/news/magazine/2022/10/28/electric-vehicles-fuelingstation-gas-utilities-infrastructure-00063398
- [62] "As EVs Gain Popularity, What Will Happen to Gas Stations?," Governing. Accessed: Mar. 07, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.governing.com/next/as-evs-gain-popularity-whatwill-happen-to-gas-stations
- [63]A. Broaddus, "Urban Impacts of Mobile Fuel Delivery Service," *Transportation Research Record*, 2020.
- [64]G. Wang, K. Makino, A. Harmandayan, and X. Wu, "Eco-driving behaviors of electric vehicle users: A survey study," *Transp. Res. Part Transp. Environ.*, vol. 78, p. 102188, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.trd.2019.11.017.

U.S. Department of Transportation

Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology Intelligent Transportation Systems Joint Program Office

- [65]J. H. M. Langbroek, "Understanding processes and travel behaviour changes connected to electric vehicle adoption".
- [66] J. Wahle, A. L. C. Bazzan, F. Klügl, and M. Schreckenberg, "The impact of real-time information in a two-route scenario using agent-based simulation," *Transp. Res. Part C Emerg. Technol.*, vol. 10, no. 5–6, pp. 399–417, Oct. 2002, doi: 10.1016/S0968-090X(02)00031-1.
- [67]I. Gokasar and G. Bakioglu, "Modeling the effects of real time traffic information on travel behavior: A case study of Istanbul Technical University," *Transp. Res. Part F Traffic Psychol. Behav.*, vol. 58, pp. 881–892, Oct. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.trf.2018.07.013.
- [68]X. Yao, F. B. Zhan, Y. Lu, and M. Yang, "Effects of real-time traffic information systems on traffic performance under different network structures," *J. Cent. South Univ.*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 586–592, Feb. 2012, doi: 10.1007/s11771-012-1043-0.
- [69]M. Ben-Akiva, A. D. Palma, and I. Kaysi, "Dynamic network models and driver information systems," *Transportation Research Part A: General*, 1991.
- [70]P. Bonsall, "The influence of route guidance advice on route choice in urban networks," *Transportation*, 1992.
- [71]M. T. Ashraf, K. Dey, A. Carrola, and X. Shi, "Impacts of real-time transit information on transit accessibility – A case study," *J. Public Transp.*, vol. 25, p. 100043, 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.jpubtr.2023.100043.
- [72]G. Circella *et al.*, "The Multimodal Behavior of Millennials: Exploring Differences in Travel Choices between Young Adults and Gen Xers in California," Institution for Transportation Studies, University of California - Davis, 2017.
- [73]X. Pi, W. Ma, and Z. (Sean) Qian, "A general formulation for multi-modal dynamic traffic assignment considering multi-class vehicles, public transit and parking," *Transp. Res. Part C Emerg. Technol.*, vol. 104, pp. 369–389, Jul. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.trc.2019.05.011.
- [74]Y. Fan, J. Ding, H. Liu, Y. Wang, and J. Long, "Large-scale multimodal transportation network models and algorithms-Part I: The combined mode split and traffic assignment problem," *Transp. Res. Part E Logist. Transp. Rev.*, vol. 164, p. 102832, Aug. 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.tre.2022.102832.
- [75]K. W. Axhausen and ETH Zürich, *The Multi-Agent Transport Simulation MATSim*. Ubiquity Press, 2016. doi: 10.5334/baw.
- [76]Z. Ke and S. Qian, "Leveraging ride-hailing services for social good: Fleet optimal routing and system optimal pricing," *Transp. Res. Part C Emerg. Technol.*, vol. 155, p. 104284, Oct. 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.trc.2023.104284.
- [77]W. Fan, "Traffic dynamics and optimal control in a city served by ride-sourcing vehicles," 2020.
- [78]C. B. Hunter, K. M. Kockelman, and S. Djavadian, "Curb Allocation and Pick-Up Drop-Off Aggregation for a Shared Autonomous Vehicle Fleet," *Int. Reg. Sci. Rev.*, p. 016001762311604, Mar. 2023, doi: 10.1177/01600176231160498.
- [79]J. Liu, W. Ma, and S. Qian, "Optimal curbside pricing for managing ride-hailing pick-ups and drop-offs," *Transp. Res. Part C Emerg. Technol.*, vol. 146, p. 103960, Jan. 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.trc.2022.103960.
- [80]M. Friedrich, J. Sonnleitner, and E. Richter, "Integrating automated vehicles into macroscopic travel demand models," *Transp. Res. Procedia*, vol. 41, pp. 360–375, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.trpro.2019.09.060.
- [81]H. Yu *et al.*, "Automated vehicle-involved traffic flow studies: A survey of assumptions, models, speculations, and perspectives," *Transp. Res. Part C Emerg. Technol.*, vol. 127, p. 103101, Jun. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.trc.2021.103101.

- [82]K. Perrine, K. Kockelman, and Y. Huang, "Anticipating Long-Distance Travel Shifts Due to Self-Driving Vehicles," *Journal of Transport Geography*, 2020.
- [83]K. Kockelman *et al.*, "Understanding the Impact of Autonomous Vehicles on Long-Distance Passenger and Freight Travel in Texas: FInal Report".
- [84]C. D. Harper, C. T. Hendrickson, and C. Samaras, "Exploring the Economic, Environmental, and Travel Implications of Changes in Parking Choices due to Driverless Vehicles: An Agent-Based Simulation Approach," *J. Urban Plan. Dev.*, vol. 144, no. 4, p. 04018043, Dec. 2018, doi: 10.1061/(ASCE)UP.1943-5444.0000488.
- [85]X. Zhang, W. Liu, and S. T. Waller, "A network traffic assignment model for autonomous vehicles with parking choices," *Comput.-Aided Civ. Infrastruct. Eng.*, vol. 34, no. 12, pp. 1100–1118, Dec. 2019, doi: 10.1111/mice.12486.
- [86]"SUMO Documentation." Accessed: Jan. 19, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://sumo.dlr.de/docs/index.html
- [87]K. M. Gurumurthy, K. M. Kockelman, and M. D. Simoni, "Benefits and Costs of Ride-Sharing in Shared Automated Vehicles across Austin, Texas: Opportunities for Congestion Pricing," *Transp. Res. Rec. J. Transp. Res. Board*, vol. 2673, no. 6, pp. 548–556, Jun. 2019, doi: 10.1177/0361198119850785.
- [88]S. K. Agrawal, S. D. Boyles, N. Jiang, M. Shahabi, and A. Unnikrishnan, "Network Route Choice Model for Battery Electric Vehicle Drivers with Different Risk Attitudes," *Transp. Res. Rec. J. Transp. Res. Board*, vol. 2498, no. 1, pp. 75–83, Jan. 2015, doi: 10.3141/2498-09.
- [89]G. Ferro, R. Minciardi, and M. Robba, "A user equilibrium model for electric vehicles: Joint traffic and energy demand assignment," *Energy*, vol. 198, p. 117299, May 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2020.117299.
- [90] "HIVE: Highly Integrated Vehicle Ecosystem Simulation Framework." Accessed: Jan. 19, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.nrel.gov/transportation/hive.html
- [91]R. Grahn, S. Qian, and C. Hendrickson, "Environmental impacts of first-mile-last-mile systems with shared autonomous electric vehicles and ridehailing," *Transp. Res. Part Transp. Environ.*, vol. 118, p. 103677, May 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.trd.2023.103677.
- [92] "The Road to Zero Emissions | Drive," Uber. Accessed: Jan. 22, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.uber.com/us/en/drive/services/electric/
- [93] "The electric vehicle tipping point is almost here." Accessed: Jan. 22, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.lyft.com/blog/posts/the-electric-vehicle-tipping-point-is-almost-here
- [94] "Whats new? Aimsun Next Users Manual." Accessed: Jan. 22, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://docs.aimsun.com/next/22.0.1/NewFeatures/NewFeatures.html#battery
- [95]"EVI-X Modeling Suite of Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Analysis Tools." Accessed: Jan. 22, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.nrel.gov/transportation/evi-x.html
- [96]M. Solomon, "The EV Revolution in Five Charts and Not Too Many Numbers," RMI. Accessed: Jan. 22, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://rmi.org/the-ev-revolution-in-five-chartsand-not-too-many-numbers/

U.S. Department of Transportation ITS Joint Program Office – HOIT 1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE Washington, DC 20590

Toll-Free "Help Line" 866-367-7487

www.its.dot.gov

FHWA-JPO-24-145

